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Note   2019 2018

1 Workers covered 25,170 24,460

2 Open claims 2,994 3,240

1, 2 Claims 1,187 1,245

1, 2 Accepted claims 1,000 1,004

1, 2 Lost-time claims 456 428

1 Lost-time rate (per 100 workers covered) 1.8 1.7

Permanent impairment awards 23 25

5 Worker fatalities 3 4

 Decisions rendered by hearing officer 20 20

Decisions rendered by the Workers’ Compensation Appeal Tribunal 1 7

1 Registered employers 3,879 3,824

 Maximum assessable earnings/wage rate $89,145 $86,971

1 Assessable payroll (millions) $1,360 $1,294

4 Assessment revenue (millions) $27.6 $26.7

 Average estimated premium rate (per $100 of insurable earnings) $2.05 $1.93

1, 3 Average collected premium rate (per $100 of insurable earnings) $2.03 $2.06

4 Net investment income (loss) (millions) $23.0 ($2.5)

Investments market return 11.9% (0.9%)

4 Investments (millions) (formerly Fund Balance) $220 $203

Funded position 141% 132%

Funded position (including target reserves) 113% 107%

Number of Access to Information and Protection of Privacy Act requests 22 16

Number of Public Interest Disclosure of Wrongdoing Act (PIDWA) disclosures 0 0

Year at a glance

Notes:	

Data may include revisions to prior releases.

1  Revised based on most recent data.

2  Figures may include counts of duplicate occurrences.

3  Based on assessment revenue as reported in the Financial Statements section.

4  In accordance with the Financial Statements section.

5  Fatalities are reported during the year in which the fatality occurred.
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A note on COVID-19

In December 2019, the novel 
coronavirus COVID-19, a highly 
contagious infectious disease, came 
to the public’s attention. As we 
prepared this report, COVID-19 was 
declared a pandemic by the World 
Health Organization. It became 
clear that the pandemic would 
have profound social, physical and 
economic impacts in every corner of 
the globe. 

Yukon Workers’ Compensation 
Health and Safety Board 
acknowledges the unprecedented 
nature of COVID-19 and the fact 
that its full impact is still unknown. 
It is very likely that the pandemic 
will deeply affect our organization, 
including the Compensation Fund, 
as well as our stakeholders and all 
Yukon workers and employers. These 
impacts will be reflected in the 2020 
annual report.

During this time, we remain 
committed to our mandate of 
preventing disability. We continue 
to uphold our values of partnership, 
accountability and compassion, and 
strive to be open and agile to the 
rapidly changing global landscape.
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For the last 15 years, the electronic sign 
outside of our building in downtown 
Whitehorse has been a landmark in the 
community. It has displayed the number 
of people who have been hurt on the job 
each year. Every January that number 
rolls back to zero—a fresh start. Then, 
as the year progresses and the number 
increases, it acts as a reminder that 
every day Yukoners are getting hurt at 
work.

As the Board of Directors for an 
organization that represents a territory 
of just over 40,000 people, we know that 
this number represents more than just 
a statistic. It represents our neighbours, 
our friends and our families who have 
been hurt on the job. The sign acts as 
a simple, yet powerful reminder to any 
Yukoner passing by on Fourth Avenue: 
we must take care of each other. 

The sign was replaced in 2019. The 
technology that ran the old one was at 
the end of its life. Displaying the annual 
injury number was an important part of 
our story, and our entire territory’s story, 
but it did not paint the whole picture 
of who we are as an organization, and 
where we are going.

And who are we?

Our organization is about much more 
than what might appear on the surface: 
injuries, hard hats and forms. We are 
about carrying the wisdom from the last 
one hundred years into this century. We 
are about trusting the innate ability of 
Yukoners to make every decision a safe 
decision. On a fundamental level, we are 
about inspiring a safety culture within 
our community so that everyone— 
absolutely everyone—returns home in 
the same condition they left in. 

We are proud to be part of such a 
community that shares in these beliefs; 
a community that embraces the spirit 
of safety. The strength we get from 
the relationships with our stakeholder 
partners helps us work towards a future 
where there are zero injuries or illnesses 
from workplace incidents. 

Soon after the old sign was recycled, 
a new, larger LCD screen was installed 
outside our front doors. As a crane 
hoisted the frame of the sign into place, 
and as a group of workers welded the 
screen to its posts, we reflected on what 
this transition meant.

Of course, there is technology, the 
very thing that drove the change for 
a new sign. Adoption of technology is 
accelerating in Yukon workplaces. In 
order to harness the benefits of where 
this takes us, we must change and 
adapt with it.

The new sign makes us more visible 
to Yukoners. It not only displays the 
number of people hurt in workplaces, 
but helps us to communicate broader 
messages, like community events, 
deadlines and important safety 
messages. 

It’s a clear window for the public to 
look into our organization. This makes 
us more transparent, engaged in and 
accountable to the community we 
serve—values we embrace.

As the new sign turned on for the first 
time, lighting up the sidewalk at Fourth 
and Strickland, we began to reflect 
even more deeply on what it all meant 
for workers’ compensation and health 
and safety in Yukon. 

We soon understood that the sign was 
a metaphor for what our entire 

Message from the Board of Directors
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organization experienced in 2019: 
change. The process of change, of trust 
and growth, truly was the pulse of 2019.

As an older generation moves out of the 
workforce, it’s youth who will become 
the innovative leaders of workplace 
safety culture in the future. That’s why 
we put so much heart and energy into 
our school programming. Inspiring 
healthy and safe behaviours at a young 
age is what will determine the success of 
tomorrow’s workplaces. 

It’s not only a younger workforce that 
is shifting the territory’s demographics. 
Yukon is increasingly becoming home 
to people from all corners of the globe. 
It’s this language, culture and unique 
view of the world that is strengthening 
our workplaces. It doesn’t matter your 
age, gender, where you were born or 
what you believe in. There is room for 
everyone in Yukon workplaces. This is a 
principle we stand behind. 

The culture of work, too, is shifting. 
Traditional jobs—what we have relied on 
for so long to structure our days and our 
lives—are being deconstructed into 

the gig economy. Artificial intelligence is 
executing complex tasks, replacing what 
was once the jobs of workers. 

Even the very definition of injury has 
widened. It’s no longer just our bodies 
that we must be so vigilant in protecting. 
Our minds deserve just as much 
attention and respect. As emerging 
science and best practices in the field of 
mental health advance, we are dedicated 
to bringing that knowledge into practice 
in our community.

All this change over the past year has 
triggered us to look inward. It has 
allowed us to develop an even deeper 
sense of identity. Our organization isn’t 
just embracing change but becoming 
leaders in it. Open and adaptable, 
we are holding firm to the wisdom 
garnered through a century of workers’ 
compensation in Yukon. 

Wisdom is our bedrock. It is the 
foundation upon which the landscape of 
workplace health and safety continues to 
evolve. Our organization must continue 
to care for those who have been injured 
or become ill from workplace incidents. 
It must continue to educate not only 

youth, but people from every walk of 
life, on how to be safe and healthy in 
the workplace. At the same time, we 
must shift our mindset and celebrate 
all that the workplace health and safety 
community in Yukon is doing right. 
Looking at the landscape through this 
lens helps us recognize how robust and 
mature it is. As the Board of Directors, 
we are proud of all that has been 
achieved by everyone when it comes to 
creating healthier, safer workplaces for 
all Yukoners.

At the close of one decade and the 
beginning of another, our confidence 
grows when we consider the 
foundation underpinning the Yukon 
Workers’ Compensation Health and 
Safety Board. It is infused with our 
values of partnership, accountability 
and compassion. As we are propelled 
into growth by the changes we are 
experiencing now, this foundation will 
only strengthen. And that strength 
will be shared with everyone through 
our new sign of safety at Fourth and 
Strickland as it casts its light on the 
community.

Board of Directors

Mark Pike—Chair
Appointed November 5, 2010
Current term ends March 29, 2020

Vicki Hancock—Alternate Chair
Appointed August 15, 2006
Current term ends October 21, 2021

Voting Board Members

Heather McIntyre—Representative of 
Employers
Appointed February 26, 2015
Current term ends February 25, 2021

Lisa Martin—Representative of Employers
Appointed April 19, 2017 to April 18, 2020

Christie Harper—Representative of 
Workers
Appointed October 22, 2015
Current term ends October 21, 2021

Keith Ellert—Representative of Workers
Appointed August 28, 2019 to August 27, 
2022

Non-Voting Board Member

Kurt Dieckmann—President/CEO
Appointed July 8, 2016

We also thank Luigi Zanasi, who 
served on the Board of Directors as 
a Representative of Workers from          
April 20, 2013 to May 3, 2019.
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Who are we? 
Yukon Workers’ Compensation Health 
and Safety Board (the Board) administers 
the Workers’ Compensation Act and the 
Occupational Health and Safety Act, 
provides compensation, service and 
support to Yukon workers injured on 
the job, and promotes workplace safety 
through education, training, inspections 
and investigations.

Our mandate is to prevent disability. 
We do so in a number of ways. We 
provide a range of services to Yukon 
employers. We work towards changing 
societal attitudes about safety and 
risk management by communicating 
strategically, engaging in social 
marketing and by educating Yukon 
youth to embrace the belief that all 
injuries can be prevented. We strive to 
reduce the incidence of injuries in Yukon 
workplaces through prevention support, 
compliance and enforcement strategies. 
When injuries do occur, we provide 
proactive, innovative and compassionate 
return-to-work programs, medical 
management and, if required, vocational 
rehabilitation.

The Board is made up of three core 
branches that work collaboratively to 
prevent disability. All of the branches 
are guided by the Board’s corporate 
values of partnership, accountability and 
compassion.

Claimant Services 
The Claimant Services Branch supports 
injured workers as they navigate a 
challenging time in their lives. The 
workers’ compensation system provides 
a range of benefits and services to 
injured workers appropriate to their 
circumstances. 

The Board accepted 1,000 claims in 
2019, compared with 1,004 in 2018. 
Most of the claims in 2019 were for 
injuries caused by contact with objects 
and equipment (383), bodily reaction 
and exertion (326) and falls (169).

A key principle of the system is to help 
workers return to their pre-injury state 

as quickly and safely as possible. Branch 
staff collaborate with workers, employers 
and health care providers to support a 
healthy transition back to work. In 2019, 
80 percent of claimants were cleared to 
work within 90 days of injury.

Assessments
The Assessments Branch works to 
continuously improve processes with 
the goal of delivering a high quality of 
service to the Board’s clients. The branch 
includes two units: Employer Services 
and the Centralized Services Team. 
Employer Services works with employers 
to ensure that they are appropriately 
classified, have adequate coverage for 
their workers and pay premiums when 
they are due. The Centralized Services 
Team are the frontline staff. They provide 
a variety of services, from helping clients 
register a claim to issuing compliance 
letters.

The branch administers the CHOICES 
Incentive Program. Employers who 
provide training to their workers to 
improve workplace safety and return-
to-work practices may be eligible for a 
rebate on their workers’ compensation 
premium. In 2019, the program returned 
over $630,000 to eligible employers. The 
Board also issues penalties for infractions 
such as failing to meet registration 
deadlines, incorrect filing of an 
Employer’s Payroll Return and failing to 
pay premiums. In 2019, employers were 
issued penalties totalling approximately 
$417,000.

Occupational Health and Safety 
(OHS) 
The OHS Branch promotes and enforces 
health and safety in the workplace. 
Alongside collaborating with Yukon 
communities and national organizations, 
safety officers visit workplaces 
throughout Yukon to help employers and 
workers comply with the Occupational 
Health and Safety Act and Regulations. 

In 2019, OHS conducted 234 inspections. 
Safety officers issued 736 orders and 
26 penalties. The branch launches 

investigations into specific workplace 
situations that warrant a deeper level 
of analysis than an inspection. OHS 
undertook four new investigations in 
2019, and worked on two cases that 
carried over from 2018.

The Board is also supported through 
the following services:

Executive Branch
The Executive Branch supports the 
Board of Directors along with all 
branches, as well as maintaining strong 
relationships with stakeholders, the 
Government of Yukon, and workers’ 
compensation and health and safety 
organizations across the country. The 
Executive Branch also includes our 
Legal and Investigations units.

Human Resources
Human Resources fosters organizational 
change. They build partnerships 
and alliances, and attract, develop, 
reward and retain employees for the 
benefit of both the employee and the 
organization.

Corporate Services
Corporate Services connects the Yukon 
public with the Board’s mandate 
of preventing disability. Corporate 
Services includes our Social Marketing, 
Communications, Outreach and 
Education, Policy and Hearing Officer 
units.  

Operations
Operations includes our Building 
Services, Finance, Data Management 
and Information Technology 
units. Operations’ services range 
from financial reporting, securing 
information technology infrastructure, 
statistical analysis and managing Access 
to Information and Protection of Privacy 
Act (ATIPP) requests from the public.

Organizational information
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For many years, there was a wall covered 
in faded graffiti behind our building in 
downtown Whitehorse. The wall was 
grey. Inconspicuous. You could walk 
through the alleyway beside our building 
every day and you would likely never 
even notice this wall. 

In the summer of 2019, that changed. 
We hired a group of local youth to paint 
a mural on the wall. Our intention was 
two-fold. 

We wanted to transform it into a 
representation of our core mission: to 
prevent disability and promote health 
and safety in Yukon workplaces.

The murals of Yukon tell the territory’s 
collective story. They not only breathe 

The Spirit of Safety

colour and life into our streets, but 
visually express something that is 
indescribable in words, something that 
helps define who we are and what 
we believe in. Our mural project was 
our small contribution to this cultural 
landscape. It was a way of expressing our 
organization’s unique identity within our 
diverse yet tight-knit community.

We also wanted to plant the seed of 
safety among the next generation of 
workers. The group of youth, led by 
local visual artist, Ali Koda, underwent 
thorough safety training and received 
safety gear to complete the project. 
Our hope was that these youth will take 
these safe work practices to job sites as 
they transition into the workforce.

The final mural incorporates imagery 
of Yukon’s iconic, diverse landscape 
and culture alongside images of youth 
undertaking safe work practices. It’s 
a celebration of the diversity of our 
territory’s employers and workers, and it 
empowers Yukoners to put safety at the 
forefront of every activity.

We’re calling it the Spirit of Safety—a 
phrase you’ll come across throughout 
the rest of our stories. The Spirit of 
Safety represents a simple, yet powerful 
concept. It doesn’t matter how old you 
are, where you come from or what you 
believe in: we all have the wisdom and 
instinct to make every decision a safe 
decision.

Our hope is that when you glance up 
at the mural in our alleyway and see a 
once-grey wall now vibrant with colour, 
you will be reminded of this concept, 
and that when it comes to fostering a 
culture of workplace health and safety in 
Yukon, we’re all in this together.

archbould.com

archbould.com



Technology is changing. 
Demographics are 
changing. The way we 
work is changing. In order 
to align with twenty-first 
century workplaces, the 
Board, on behalf of the 
Government of Yukon, 
began the process of a 
full review, modernization 
and amalgamation of our 
legislation. 

The Government of Yukon 
is proposing to modernize 
our legislation to adapt 
to these changes, and to best serve 
Yukoners—from employers to workers 
to our stakeholder partners. They are 
proposing to modernize to enhance 
worker safety. That means exploring 
ways to reduce workplace incidents and 
injuries, to increase the efficiency of 
injury claim administration, to reduce 
red tape and delays, and to maintain a 
solvent Compensation Fund.

The foundation of our organization 
is built on two acts. The Workers’ 
Compensation Act governs the Board’s 
business, compensation and return-
to-work efforts. The Occupational 
Health and Safety Act provides for the 
“prevention” system to help workplaces 
stay healthy and safe.

The most recent major update to the 
Workers’ Compensation Act happened 
more than a decade ago, and since 
then, the Act has largely remained 
untouched. This Act is beginning to show 
its age, particularly in areas like mental 
health. The Occupational Health and 
Safety Act came into force in 1986. It 
was pieced together from a variety of 
similar legislation from other Canadian 
jurisdictions. Those pieces have not 
worked as well as intended. More 
importantly, that Act does not align well 
with the Workers’ Compensation Act. 

Both of these acts now require 
considerable changes to make them 
more cohesive and to ensure they 
are in line with twenty-first century 
workplaces. In October 2019, the 
Premier identified modernizing 
this legislation as a priority for the 
Government of Yukon.

Modernizing and amalgamating the 
acts will benefit Yukoners and the 
economy overall. Amalgamation means 
reducing administrative redundancies. 
Proposed amendments in the acts will 
support an enhanced workplace safety 
culture, which, ideally, leads to fewer 
workplace injuries, fewer claims and 
a more efficient claim administration. 
Modernization also has the potential 
to reduce lost-time injuries, benefiting 
employers, workers and the health of 
our community overall.

A tremendous amount of research and 
analysis has gone into the modernization 
process. The Board looked across the 
country at other jurisdictions for success 
stories. We also reviewed our own 
claims and OHS data to understand our 
unique Yukon context.

Of course, it’s stakeholders, workers, 
employers and other members of the 
community whose voices will help shape 
the proposed legislation.

In the fall of 2019, on behalf 
of the Government of 
Yukon, we began a public 
engagement. With the 
community, we explored 
how to make the workers’ 
compensation and health 
and safety systems more 
transparent, easier to 
participate in and more 
accountable.

The public engagement 
included open houses 
in Whitehorse, Haines 
Junction, Watson Lake, 

Mayo and Dawson, two online surveys 
and the option for Yukoners to send us 
written submissions. We also established 
an external advisory group that 
engaged deeply on topics like workers’ 
compensation, occupational health 
and safety, employer assessments, 
mental health, appeals, and compliance 
and enforcement, among others. This 
group included governments, agencies, 
associations and other stakeholder 
groups that represented the broad 
interests of workers and employers. 

A “What We Heard” report will be 
produced in 2020. The Government of 
Yukon will take into consideration the 
stakeholder and public feedback when 
drafting the legislation.

Modernizing our foundation
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Mapping processes

Change is a word that defined our 
organization in 2019. When it came to 
transforming our processes to better 
suit the needs of Yukoners, the Claimant 
Services Branch was a main driver of 
change.

Throughout this process, the big 
question on which Claimant Services 
reflected was simple: why?

Reflecting on the bigger picture of 
why we do things the way we do can 
be challenging while we’re immersed 
in the day-to-day business of helping 
clients. We know that taking a step 
back to examine our processes is 
essential in providing the best service. 
Doing everything we can to help with 

compassion and fairness is foundational 
to our principles, and shifting our focus 
to look at our work from the client’s 
perspective helps us strengthen these 
very principles.

Over the past several years, Claimant 
Services has been working on 
streamlining their processes in an effort 
to maximize the value delivered to the 
client. The branch has mapped all of its 
processes in order to examine how each 
step could be completed with improved 
accuracy, effectiveness and efficiency.

The process for managing hearing loss 
claims was one of several processes that 
was completely revamped. The new 
process means workers are now filling 

out less paperwork and spending a 
shorter amount of time waiting for their 
claim to be processed. This speeds up 
efficiency while using fewer resources— 
a benefit to workers, employers and the 
Board.

Stepping back to view our work through 
a wider lens allows us to improve the 
core mechanics of how the Board 
functions. It requires us to be agile, 
adaptable and comfortable with the 
inevitability of change. As we move 
into a new decade, this is a philosophy 
that extends far beyond the Claimant 
Services Branch and into our entire 
organization. 

2019 annual report10
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Our territory’s youth have 
inspiring ideas when it 
comes to strengthening our 
safety culture in Yukon. We 
are always looking for ways 
to foster this creativity and 
help them put their ideas 
into action. 

In 2019, the Board launched 
the Explore Safety Program, 
a new initiative where 
Yukon school teachers have 
the opportunity to submit 
a safety-related project 
proposal in exchange for 
$200 for their classroom. 
This year we funded six projects. 

One project, from a Grade 1 class 
at Whitehorse Elementary School, 
involved writing and illustrating a book 
about winter safety. Another proposal, 
from the Grade 5/6 class at Takhini 
Elementary School, involved creating 
a set of wooden cut-out silhouettes of 
children to encourage drivers to slow 
down in their school zone. The class 
worked hard to make their proposal a 
reality and you can now see these life-
sized “Sidewalk Suzies” and “Sidewalk 
Shawns” when you drive by the school 
on Range Road. 

We also hosted our annual Youth Video 
Contest and Safety Build Contest. The 
theme for the video contest was “Mind 
the job: not all injuries are physical.” 
First place went to Nicholas Morgan 
and Lewis Cameron from F.H. Collins 
Secondary School. The always popular 

Safety Build Contest, where students 
from Grade 1 to 7 build LEGO models 
that show how they keep safe during 
everyday activities for a chance to win 
a safety-themed LEGO prize, had 20 
entries in 2019.

In addition to our contests, 
our Outreach and Education 
Unit saw a significant 
increase in the number 
of Yukoners reached 
through community events 
and classroom visits: 
approximately 9,000 people 
in 2019, compared to 
approximately 5,600 the 
previous year. Yukoners 
learned about workplace 
safety through games and 
hands-on experiences at 
community events. Our 
classroom visits include 

workshops like Susie the Safety Squirrel, 
where students in Kindergarten to 
Grade 2 try on safety gear and play 
charades with the help of the safety 
squirrel, and Work Shouldn’t Hurt, which 
informs young and new workers about 
common workplace hazards, how to 
mitigate them and how the workers’ 
compensation and occupational health 
and safety systems support injured 
workers. 

The Board also extends huge 
congratulations to Yukoner James 
Cronkin, who won a silver medal in 
Workplace Safety at the 2019 National 
Skills Competition held in May in Halifax, 
Nova Scotia. More than 550 competitors 
from every region of Canada participated 
in the competition. Yukon was the only 
territory to receive medals. 

We’re proud of the youth who help 
foster our territory’s safety culture. Their 
energy inspires us to continue to think 
outside the box and find creative ways 
to promote workplace health and safety 
in Yukon.

Yukon youth inspiring a culture of safety

archbould.com



A healthy brain

2019 annual report12

Our brains are resilient, complex organs. 
They allow us to move through the 
day with a kind of ease that often only 
becomes apparent when an injury arises.

An increased focus on concussions in 
the past several years, both within our 
organization and society at large, has 
led to a deeper foundational knowledge 
of how we can best prevent and heal 
these complicated injuries. Emerging 
brain science has shifted best practices 
in terms of diagnosis and recovery, and 
a cultural spotlight on concussions and 
sports injuries, for example, has led to 
a widening societal awareness of just 
how diligent we must be when it comes 
to protecting these complex organs. 
Spreading awareness on how to protect 
our brains at work and how to improve 
recovery when injuries do occur are 
priorities for the Board. 

Foundational habits form when students 
learn about injury prevention at a 
young age. In 2019, our Outreach and 
Education Unit delivered five Head First 
workshops in Grade 4 to 6 classrooms, 
reaching approximately 100 students. 
The Head First workshop teaches 
students what a concussion is and how 
to prevent one. They learn about the 
three Rs: recognize, report and rest. 
Students even have the chance to touch 
a brain model made of Jell-O in order to 
understand how these complex organs 
look outside of the skull.

The Board also sponsored Dr. Noah 
Silverberg, a neuropsychologist from 
the University of British Columbia, to 
deliver a presentation to the Yukon 
Medical Association on concussion 
management. Silverberg’s presentation 
gave Yukon medical doctors up-to-date 

tools on how to identify acute signs and 
symptoms of brain injuries, including 
recognizing altered mental states and 
what the upper and lower thresholds for 
a concussion diagnosis actually are.

A healthy brain is vital to our overall 
health and well-being. The Board 
will continue to engage in the rapidly 
evolving world of brain science, spread 
awareness about concussion prevention 
and care for those who are injured.
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Our Centralized Services Team are 
the frontline staff who help Yukoners 
navigate our workers’ compensation 
and health and safety systems. They 
answer any and all questions. They 
help ensure the day-to-day operation 
of our organization runs smoothly and 
efficiently. 

These staff are working on an even 
deeper, interpersonal level. Guided by 
empathy, compassion and a genuine 
desire to take care of our community, 
they go above and beyond their job 
description in order to ensure that it’s 
people who always come first.

We understand that our clients can be in 
a vulnerable state. They can be dealing 
with an illness or injury that makes it 
difficult to walk through our front doors. 
They can have language, literacy or 
financial barriers. 

They can be opening a business for the 
first time and overwhelmed. They can 
be struggling with invisible challenges 
that make it difficult to just get through 
the day.

Our frontline staff go beyond day-to-day 
expectations. They provide all the help a 
client needs to move through a process 
that isn’t always simple to understand, 
like sitting down with people dealing 
with literacy challenges to help them 
work through our forms, or offering 
French language services to ease 
language barriers.

One example from 2019 highlights just 
how driven by compassion the frontline 
staff really are. When an injured worker 
was released from the hospital and 
showed up at the front doors of the 
Board’s office in a vulnerable state, staff 
immediately did everything they could to 

support him. Within two hours, they had 
booked him a flight to see a specialist 
and arranged for his family to be with 
him. They ensured he was as supported 
as possible as he worked through a 
difficult time in his life.

We know that in the blur of a demanding 
work environment, these acts of 
kindness can be overlooked. We’re 
proud to pause and take a moment to 
highlight the compassion that so deeply 
infuses the work of our frontline staff.

 

Leading with compassion
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Health and safety in the community

The OHS Branch continued to strengthen 
its ties within the community, the 
territory and nationally in 2019.

The Board implemented a national 
harmonization initiative that was 
endorsed by an agreement between all 
provinces and territories, including the 
Government of Yukon. Harmonization 
aims to standardize OHS regulations 
across the country in the interest 
of worker safety and cross-border 
labour efficiency. In 2019, a set of 
harmonization standards relating to 
personal protective equipment and first 
aid kit contents were adopted under the 
Yukon Occupational Health and Safety 
Act and Regulations. 

In an effort to make it more accessible 
for employers and workers in small 
Yukon communities to have their hearing 

tested, OHS partnered with service 
providers who offer mobile audiometric 
testing. In 2019, these mobile units 
reached communities across the 
territory and completed 660 individual 
tests. 

The OHS Branch continued to help 
sponsor Yukon College’s crane operator 
course. The four-day course, set up 
in collaboration with OHS in 2018, is 
an intensive introduction to heavy 
lifting and proper safe procedures for 
crane operations. ATCO Electric Yukon 
supplements the course with their 
7 Steps to Electrical Safety Training 
Program, which teaches participants 
how to identify and avoid power 
line hazards on the worksite. The 
crane operator course was offered in 
Whitehorse, Haines Junction, Ross River 

and Dawson in 2019, with a total of 68 
participants, compared to 39 in 2018.

The OHS Branch also co-sponsored the 
annual Partners in Safety barbecue. The 
barbecue, held in May during North 
American Occupational Safety and 
Health Week, aims to raise awareness 
about the importance of safety culture 
by bringing together a wide range 
of community partners for a day of 
learning, food and prizes.

archbould.com

archbould.com
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Claimant Services staff work with clients 
who are going through a difficult time. 
They are often injured or ill and dealing 
with a sudden change to their lives they 
did not anticipate.

Our staff use a complex network of skills 
to support these clients. Helping injured 
workers return to their pre-injury state 
as quickly and safely as possible requires 
a depth of understanding that goes far 
beyond the practical side, like setting up 
medical care and travel. 

Staff underwent a range of interpersonal 
trainings in 2019 to best serve our 
clients. The trainings were also focused 
on helping staff themselves remain 

safe and healthy in a demanding work 
environment.

One of the trainings promoted active 
listening. This means paying attention to 
a person without judgment or forming 
a reply before they have finished 
speaking. Another training, called the 
Strength Deployment Inventory (SDI), 
explores what are called “Motivational 
Value Systems” (see diagram below). 
These are the value systems that drive 
individual behaviours. Some people, for 
example, are motivated by people and 
some are motivated by results. Others 
are motivated by data. Understanding 
these motivations provides a common 

language for the kind of invisible, 
internal processes that drive so much 
our relationships with others. Through 
relationships, we can leverage our 
differences, build better teams, improve 
collaboration and increase productivity. 

The Board is committed to investing 
in our staff to better support our 
clients. Staff from Claimant Services, 
Assessments and Occupational Health 
and Safety branches all participated in 
the SDI training. Building awareness and 
resiliency within our organization means 
we can deliver the highest standard of 
service to Yukoners who need it most.

Looking inwards to help our clients
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Mining is a cornerstone of our territory’s 
economy, culture and sense of identity.

The industry experienced a period of 
transition and growth in 2019. The Eagle 
mine north of Mayo poured its first gold 
in September. In October, the Minto 
mine returned to production after a 
year hiatus and change of ownership. 
The Coffee Gold Project near Dawson 
is gearing up to be in production within 
the next several years, too. 

With the growth of the mining industry 
comes the responsibility to focus on 
creating a positive safety culture. From 
an occupational health and safety 
perspective, that means an emphasis on 
training.

The OHS Branch supported an increased 
number of workers through the Mine 
Rescue Safety Training in 2019. The 
training allows workers to be part 
of mine rescue teams, which are 

mandatory at most Yukon mine sites. In 
2019, 66 workers completed the Mine 
Rescue Safety Training, compared to 
39 in 2018 and 7 in 2017. The training 
is a 40-hour classroom course where 
participants gain experience with skills 
like tying knots, rope rescue, firefighting 
and mechanical advantage. Once 
certified, they are required to participate 
in 40 hours of annual training on the 
mine site with a qualified mine rescue 
instructor.

OHS also participated in the National 
Western Region Mine Rescue 
competition in Fernie, British Columbia. 
Mine safety officers gain valuable 
experience at this biennial competition 
by networking and learning from the 
expertise of other jurisdictions. OHS 
develops scenarios for the competition, 
builds tasks and participates in the 
judging. In 2019, four OHS staff 

participated in the competitions by 
organizing and building a surface smoke 
search scenario.

2019 was also a year to celebrate how 
far we have progressed when it comes 
to keeping Yukon mine sites injury-free. 
For example, at the end of 2019, Victoria 
Gold’s Eagle mine reported that it had 
zero lost-time claims since August 2018. 
Zero is a number to celebrate. It means 
we are one step closer to reaching our 
overall goal of vision zero: zero worker 
injuries, illnesses or fatalities from 
workplace incidents in Yukon. It also 
aligns with the philosophy behind the 
Spirit of Safety. It means that, as we 
continue to promote health and safety 
throughout the territory and care for 
those who have become injured, we can 
also shift our attention to all the success 
we have achieved in keeping Yukoners 
safe at work.

A lens on mining safety 
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Our minds deserve just as much 
attention, care and respect as the rest of 
our bodies. This is a foundational belief 
we hold, and it’s a belief that is only 
strengthened as the cultural spotlight on 
mental health continues to widen.

Mental health claims have been steadily 
increasing over the past several years. 
This increase has been happening 
not only in Yukon, but at workers’ 
compensation boards across Canada 
and the world. The Board accepted 24 
mental health claims in 2019, compared 
to 19 in both 2018 and 2017. Thirteen 
of the 24 involved post-traumatic stress 
disorder (PTSD). 

In 2019, we continued to learn 
how to best prevent work-related 
psychological injuries. At the same 
time, we strengthened our resources in 
order to best care for those who have 
become injured. We work closely with 
a community of local psychologists to 
provide mental health treatment to 

eligible claimants. We also partner with 
one particular psychologist who acts as 
a mental health consultant to provide 
timely, specialized expertise to staff. 

A policy change in July added new 
criteria for adjudicating psychological 
injury claims. The new policy allows 
staff to explain criteria for the result of 
a claim in a clearer fashion, providing 
more accountability and transparency on 
behalf of the Board.

We also completed the public 
engagement focused on a new 
regulation to help employers ensure 
workplaces are free from violence 
and harassment—two serious health 
and safety concerns to which no 
Yukon worker should be exposed. The 
engagement included an online survey, 
a stakeholder meeting and a public open 
house. 

To reach the wider community in terms 
of mental awareness and prevention, 
we hosted former sports broadcaster 

and mental health advocate, Michael 
Landsberg. Landsberg delivered his “sick 
not weak” talk, which reframes mental 
illness as a health issue, rather than a 
character flaw. Landsberg spoke as part 
of our annual Workplace Solutions series 
in February. Our theme for the 2019 
event, “Mind the job: not all injuries are 
physical,” stresses the importance of 
supporting mental, as well as physical, 
health in the workplace. 

Our Outreach and Education Unit also 
delivered 23 mental health workshops 
to Grade 6 and 7 classes throughout 
the territory, reaching approximately 
500 students. In this popular workshop, 
students use hands-on activities to 
discuss mental health stigmas and to 
recognize changes in mental health 
among their peers. They learn about 
tools to maintain positive mental well-
being and find out where to seek help in 
Yukon.

A spotlight on mental health
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Privacy and security are an integral part 
of the Board’s culture. In order to fulfill 
our responsibilities under our legislation, 
we collect a broad range of information 
from employers, injured workers, health 
care practitioners, and other individuals 
and organizations. This information is 
often personal and confidential. We 
prioritize our obligation to store this 
information securely and protect it from 
unauthorized use and access. 

Our chief information governance officer 
and our privacy officer work closely with 
all branches in the organization to assure 
that proper processes and procedures 
are in place in order to safeguard the 
security of data. The chief information 
governance officer is also responsible for 
managing ATIPP requests.

In 2019, we underwent two major 
IT system upgrades. Our dedicated 
Information Technology Unit staff helped 

the organization to expand our efforts 
on anti-phishing attacks and continued 
to build awareness about privacy issues 
through our Securing the Human course. 
Every new employee completes this 
online training program, which gives 
practical tips on how to avoid breaches 
of privacy and security within the 
organization.

Privacy and security
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Policy

We update our policies to help with the 
implementation of our legislation. We 
do this for the benefit of employers, 
claimants and Yukon-at-large. In 2019, 
that meant amending policies in areas 
that are undergoing rapid change, like 
mental health and cannabis legalization.

Policies are developed in consultation 
with internal and external stakeholder 
groups. They are then approved by 
our Board of Directors. Four policy 
amendments came into effect in 2019.

One policy amendment clarifies and 
simplifies the payment of interest 
on compensation benefits, another 
provides guidance on adjudicating 
psychological injuries, including when 
and how to apply the PTSD presumption, 
while another allows for case-by-case 
determination of the authorization of 
medication, including cannabis. A fourth 
policy amendment helps maintain 
consistency for Yukon businesses when 
bidding on government contracts. 

The full list of policy amendments that 
became effective in 2019 includes:

EL-03: Payment of Interest on 
Compensation Benefits

EN-09: Adjudicating Psychological 
Injuries

HC-02: Safe Use of Medications

GN-08: Contracting

Reviews and appeals

Injured workers or employers who 
disagree with any claims decisions can 
request a review of those decisions 
within two years. The Workers’ Advocate 
Office, independent from the Board, 
often plays a role in helping injured 
workers resolve disputes at that stage. If 
a matter cannot be resolved informally, 
the next step is an internal review by a 
hearing officer who can confirm, vary or 
reverse the original decision.

If the injured worker or employer 
does not agree with a hearing officer’s 
decision, they can appeal to the 

Workers’ Compensation Appeal Tribunal 
(WCAT). WCAT is an independent body 
whose members are appointed by the 
Government of Yukon. WCAT decisions 
are final and binding. Any party can 
ultimately request a judicial review 
through the courts.

Board hearing officers reviewed 20 
decisions in 2019, confirming seven 
decisions, reversing nine and varying 
four. In 2019, WCAT issued one decision, 
which was undecided at the end of 
2018, and which confirmed the hearing 
officer’s decision.

Appeals to the Board of Directors

An appeal panel of the Board of 
Directors is authorized to hear appeals 
on matters pertaining to assessments, 
occupational health and safety and right-
of-action determinations. No appeal 
decisions were issued in 2019.

Policy, reviews and appeals, and appeals to the Board of Directors
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Accepted claims by occupation
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
The Management’s Discussion and Analysis provides further 
insight into the financial performance of the Compensation 
Fund (the Fund) for the year ended December 31, 2019. The 
audited financial statements and supporting notes are integral 
to this analysis and should be read in conjunction with it. Unless 
otherwise indicated, all amounts are expressed in Canadian 
dollars and have been derived from the Fund’s annual financial 
statements prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.

Forward-looking statements
Any forward-looking statements in this document represent the 
views of management. Forward-looking information is subject 
to many risks and uncertainties, and may contain significant 
assumptions about the future. These statements are presented 
to help stakeholders understand the Fund’s financial position, 
priorities and anticipated financial performance.

Risk and uncertainties about future assumptions include, but 
are not limited to the following: changing financial markets, 
the industry mix of the Yukon workforce, the general economy, 
legislation, accounting standards, appeals and court decisions, 
and other known or unknown risks. Readers are cautioned not 
to place undue reliance on forward-looking information as our 
actual results may differ materially from those expressed or 
implied. 

Operating results
In 2019 the Fund incurred an operating surplus of $15.3 million 
versus an operating deficit of $9.4 million (prior to the funding 
surplus distribution of $5.0 million) in 2018.

          

The total comprehensive income, which includes the funding 
policy surplus recoveries, surplus distributions and the actuarial 
loss on post-employment benefits, was $15.3 million (income) in 
2019 versus $14.5 million (loss) in 2018.             

The substantial increase in total comprehensive income can be 
mainly attributed to the $23.0 million in net investment income 
in 2019, compared to a net investment loss of $2.5 million 
in 2018. 

Revenues
The Fund’s revenue and income totalled $52.0 million in 2019 
versus $25.4 million in 2018. The increase in overall revenue 
was mainly a result of the substantial increase in net investment 
income. 

Assessment revenue in 2019 was $27.6 million, up 3% from 
$26.7 million in 2018. The increase in assessment revenue is 
mainly due to the overall increases in assessable payroll for most 
sectors, as well as a shift in the industry mix. This shift has been 
driven mainly by the strong economic activity in the mining and 
construction sectors.  

13.7 M

10.8 M

15.5 M

-2.5 M

23.0 M

-5.0

 -

 5.0

 10.0

 15.0

 20.0

 25.0

.

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Net Investment Income (Loss)

5.1M

1.7M
3.1M

-9.4M

15.3M

-15

-10

-5

0

5

10

15

20

Operating Results

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Operating Results

Assessment Revenue

21.4 M
20.2 M

22.9 M

26.7 M 27.6 M

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Financial statements

2019 annual report24



Net investment income in 2019 was $23.0 million versus a net 
investment loss of $2.5 million in 2018, an increase of $25.5 
million. In 2019 the Fund saw strong growth in its investment 
portfolio with an overall return for the year of 11.9%. The four- 
year annualized return in 2019 was 6.0%. The target benchmark 
(nominal discount rate) for the same period was 5.6%. The 
investment portfolio’s asset mix is 44.3% fixed income and 55.7% 
equities. This asset mix reflects Yukon Workers’ Compensation 
Health and Safety Board’s (the Board) conservative approach to 
managing its investment portfolio. 

Expenses
Total claims expenses increased to $22.8 million in 2019 from 
$22.1 million in 2018. Claims expenses were higher in 2019 
mainly due to an increase in the occupational disease liability 
provision and a slight decrease in the discount rate used by the 
actuaries to value the benefits liability. The nominal discount 
rate changed from 5.6% in 2018 to 5.5% in 2019.

Administration costs increased to $13.3 million in 2019 from 
$12.1 million in 2018. This is mainly due to costs associated with 
consulting and professional expenses, and salaries and benefits. 
The increase in consulting and professional expenses can be 
tied directly to the costs associated with the acts modernization 
and the development of a new occupational health and safety 
regulation, which was ongoing in 2019. Another factor was the 
cost of living increases required by the collective bargaining 
agreement.

Balance Sheet
At the end of each fiscal year, the Board’s actuary calculates 
the benefits liability for all injuries that have occurred to date. 
This liability represents the actuarial present value of all future 
benefits and related administration costs. As at December 
31, 2019, this liability was $160.7 million, an increase of 
approximately 3.3% over the previous year. The benefits 
liability increased less than expected due to favourable claims 
experience in long-term claims in 2019. 

The total assets of the Fund increased by $19.6 million or 9.0% 
in 2019. The increase in total assets is related mainly to the 
increase in the value of the investments which were driven by 
the solid annual returns earned during 2019.
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Funded Position
The funding ratio is calculated by dividing the total assets by 
the total liabilities. Like a pension plan, the Fund must have 
adequate assets to ensure that benefits can be provided to 
injured workers both now and well into the future. Reserves are 
necessary to ensure that the Board can minimize rate volatility, 
protect the Fund from unforeseen catastrophic events and 
preserve capital during large downturns in financial markets.

As at December 31, 2019, the funding ratio was 141%, up from 
132% in 2018. According to the Board’s funding policy, when the 
funding ratio is outside the target range of 121% to 129%, the 
Fund is considered to be in a surplus position. The strong funded 
position at the end of 2019 will help reduce future assessment 
rate volatility and help cushion impacts on the rates that 
employers pay in the future. 

Outlook
The challenge in the upcoming years will be to manage the 
organization through a period of unknown economic shocks 
as a result of the COVID-19 crisis, which came to the public’s 
attention in December 2019. The current economic downturn 
due to the COVID-19 crisis is unprecedented. In addition to the 
death and illness this virus has created throughout the world, 
an economic crisis has erupted, and financial markets and 
industries are stressed at levels never seen before. Government 
stimulus actions have never been so aggressive. On an individual 
level, the willingness to support mass social distancing across 
the globe has never been experienced in our lifetime. 

Our strong financial position going into the COVID-19 crisis 
should allow us to preserve our capital base through the current 
market downturn, allowing us to fully participate in the market 
gains when it eventually recovers. This will allow the Board to 
maintain affordable rates for our employers while ensuring that 
our future obligations to injured workers are not jeopardized. 
The Board is well prepared to face these current challenges 
and is monitoring all economic and operating trends as they 
develop. We are working closely with all stakeholders and the 
Government of Yukon to help mitigate any serious adverse 
financial and health-related impacts that employers and injured 
workers might be facing.
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The management of the Yukon Workers’ Compensation Health and Safety Board (the “Board”) 
is responsible for establishing and maintaining a system of books, records, internal controls and 
management practices designed to provide reasonable assurance that reliable financial information is 
produced on a timely basis; Compensation Fund assets are safeguarded and controlled; transactions of 
the Compensation Fund are in accordance with relevant legislation, regulations and board policies; and 
that the Board’s resources are managed efficiently and economically and the operations of the Board are 
carried out effectively.	

Management is also responsible for the integrity and objectivity of the financial statements of the 
Compensation Fund, including any amounts that must of necessity be based on management’s best 
estimates, experience and judgement. Management is responsible for preparing the accompanying 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. Other financial 
information included in the Annual Report is consistent with these financial statements.	

Members of the Board of Directors are responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its 
responsibilities for financial reporting and internal control. The Board of Directors exercises its 
responsibilities through the Finance, Investment, and Audit Committee (the “Committee”). The 
Committee meets with management and the external auditors on a regular basis. The Committee has 
reviewed the financial statements and has submitted its report to the Board of Directors, which has 
approved these financial statements.	

The Auditor General of Canada conducts an independent audit for the purpose of expressing his opinion 
on the financial statements. He also considers whether the transactions that come to his notice in the 
course of the audit are, in all significant respects, in accordance with specified legislation.	

Morneau Shepell, an independent consulting actuarial firm, has completed an actuarial valuation of the 
benefits liability included in the financial statements of the Compensation Fund and reported thereon in 
accordance with accepted actuarial practice.

Management’s responsibility for financial reporting

Jim Stephens, CPA, CMA, CGA
Vice President, Operations and Chief Financial Officer

Kurt Dieckmann, MBA, CRSP
President and Chief Executive Officer

April 21, 2020
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Actuarial Statement of Opinion
I have completed the actuarial valuation of the benefits liability of the Yukon Workers’ Compensation Health 
and Safety Board (the “board”) as at December 31, 2019 (the “valuation date”).  Details of the data, actuarial 
assumptions, valuation methods and results are included in the actuarial valuation report as at the valuation 
date, of which this statement of opinion forms part.  In my opinion:

1.  The data on which the valuation is based were supplied by the board in accordance with specifications 
provided by us.  We applied such checks of reasonableness of the data as we considered appropriate, and 
have concluded that the data are sufficient and reliable to permit a realistic valuation of the benefits liability.

2.  The actuarial assumptions adopted in computing the benefits liability are adequate and appropriate for 
the purpose of the valuation. The economic assumptions are consistent with the funding and investment 
policies of the board.

3.  The methods used are appropriate for the purpose of the valuation and are in accordance with accepted 
actuarial practice for workers’ compensation organizations in Canada.  

4.  The estimate of the actuarial liabilities as at the valuation date is $160,659,000.  This includes provisions 
for benefits expected to be paid after the valuation date for claims that occurred on or before the valuation 
date.  A provision for future claims arising from long latency occupational diseases is included in this valua-
tion.  This liability includes future administrative expenses for all benefits, with the exception of the Annuity 
benefit.  It does not include any accrued liability for claims arising from self-insured accounts.  

5.  The liability as at the valuation date for Annuity contributions and interest already set aside by the board 
up to the valuation date for purposes of providing pension benefits to injured workers was obtained from the 
board’s finance division and is included in item 4 above.

6.  The amount of the actuarial liabilities makes appropriate provision for all personal injury compensation 
obligations and the financial statements fairly present the results of the valuation.

7.  This report has been prepared, and my opinions given, in accordance with accepted actuarial practice in 
Canada.

8.  The valuation is based on the provisions of the Workers’ Compensation Act of the Yukon Territory and on 
the board’s policies and practices in effect on the valuation date.

__________________________		

Thane MacKay, F.C.I.A.
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Actuarial Statement of Opinion 

I have completed the actuarial valuation of the benefits liability of the Yukon Workers’ Compensation Health 
and Safety Board (the “board”) as at December 31, 2018 (the “valuation date”).  Details of the data, actuarial 
assumptions, valuation methods and results are included in the actuarial valuation report as at the valuation 
date, of which this statement of opinion forms part.  In my opinion: 

1. The data on which the valuation is based were supplied by the board in accordance with specifications 
provided by us.  We applied such checks of reasonableness of the data as we considered appropriate, and 
have concluded that the data are sufficient and reliable to permit a realistic valuation of the benefits 
liability. 

2. The actuarial assumptions adopted in computing the benefits liability are adequate and appropriate for 
the purpose of the valuation. The economic assumptions are consistent with the funding and investment 
policies of the board. 

3. The methods used are appropriate for the purpose of the valuation and are in accordance with accepted 
actuarial practice for workers’ compensation organizations in Canada.   

4. The estimate of the actuarial liabilities as at the valuation date is $155,499,000.  This includes provisions 
for benefits expected to be paid after the valuation date for claims that occurred on or before the 
valuation date.  A provision for future claims arising from long latency occupational diseases is included in 
this valuation.  This liability includes future administrative expenses for all benefits, with the exception of 
the Annuity benefit.  It does not include any accrued liability for claims arising from self-insured accounts.   

5. The liability as at the valuation date for Annuity contributions and interest already set aside by the board 
up to the valuation date for purposes of providing pension benefits to injured workers was obtained from 
the board’s finance division and is included in item 4 above. 

6. The amount of the actuarial liabilities makes appropriate provision for all personal injury compensation 
obligations and the financial statements fairly present the results of the valuation. 

7. This report has been prepared, and my opinions given, in accordance with accepted actuarial practice in 
Canada. 

8. The valuation is based on the provisions of the Workers’ Compensation Act of the Yukon Territory and on 
the board’s policies and practices in effect on the valuation date. 

 

______________________ 

Thane MacKay, F.C.I.A.   

This report has been peer reviewed by Mark Simpson, FCIA.
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Actuarial Statement of Opinion 

I have completed the actuarial valuation of the benefits liability of the Yukon Workers’ Compensation Health 
and Safety Board (the “board”) as at December 31, 2018 (the “valuation date”).  Details of the data, actuarial 
assumptions, valuation methods and results are included in the actuarial valuation report as at the valuation 
date, of which this statement of opinion forms part.  In my opinion: 

1. The data on which the valuation is based were supplied by the board in accordance with specifications 
provided by us.  We applied such checks of reasonableness of the data as we considered appropriate, and 
have concluded that the data are sufficient and reliable to permit a realistic valuation of the benefits 
liability. 

2. The actuarial assumptions adopted in computing the benefits liability are adequate and appropriate for 
the purpose of the valuation. The economic assumptions are consistent with the funding and investment 
policies of the board. 

3. The methods used are appropriate for the purpose of the valuation and are in accordance with accepted 
actuarial practice for workers’ compensation organizations in Canada.   

4. The estimate of the actuarial liabilities as at the valuation date is $155,499,000.  This includes provisions 
for benefits expected to be paid after the valuation date for claims that occurred on or before the 
valuation date.  A provision for future claims arising from long latency occupational diseases is included in 
this valuation.  This liability includes future administrative expenses for all benefits, with the exception of 
the Annuity benefit.  It does not include any accrued liability for claims arising from self-insured accounts.   

5. The liability as at the valuation date for Annuity contributions and interest already set aside by the board 
up to the valuation date for purposes of providing pension benefits to injured workers was obtained from 
the board’s finance division and is included in item 4 above. 

6. The amount of the actuarial liabilities makes appropriate provision for all personal injury compensation 
obligations and the financial statements fairly present the results of the valuation. 

7. This report has been prepared, and my opinions given, in accordance with accepted actuarial practice in 
Canada. 

8. The valuation is based on the provisions of the Workers’ Compensation Act of the Yukon Territory and on 
the board’s policies and practices in effect on the valuation date. 

 

______________________ 

Thane MacKay, F.C.I.A.   

This report has been peer reviewed by Mark Simpson, FCIA.This report has been peer reviewed by Mark Simpson, FCIA.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Minister responsible for the Compensation Fund 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the Compensation Fund, which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the statement of operations and 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in funded position (equity) and statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Compensation Fund as at 31 December 2019, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Compensation Fund in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Yukon Workers’ Compensation Health and Safety Board’s Annual 
Report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.  
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Compensation Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Compensation Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Compensation Fund’s 
financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Compensation Fund’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Compensation Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
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related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Compensation Fund to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Report on Compliance with Specified Authorities  

Opinion

In conjunction with the audit of the financial statements, we have audited transactions of the 
Compensation Fund coming to our notice for compliance with specified authorities. The 
specified authorities against which compliance was audited are the Workers’ Compensation Act 
and regulations, the Occupational Health and Safety Act and regulations, and the Financial
Administration Act of Yukon and regulations. 

In our opinion, the transactions of the Compensation Fund that came to our notice during the 
audit of the financial statements have complied, in all material respects, with the specified 
authorities referred to above. Further, as required by the Workers’ Compensation Act, we report 
that, in our opinion, the accounting principles in IFRSs have been applied on a basis consistent 
with that of the preceding year. In addition, in our opinion, proper books of account have been 
kept by the Compensation Fund and the financial statements are in agreement therewith.  

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance with Specified Authorities 

Management is responsible for the Compensation Fund’s compliance with the specified 
authorities named above, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary 
to enable the Compensation Fund to comply with the specified authorities. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance with Specified Authorities 

Our audit responsibilities include planning and performing procedures to provide an audit 
opinion and reporting on whether the transactions coming to our notice during the audit of the 
financial statements are in compliance with the specified authorities referred to above. 

 

 

David Irving, CPA, CA 
Principal 
for the Interim Auditor General of Canada 
 
Edmonton, Canada 
21 April 2020 
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Statement of Financial Position 
As at December 31 

(In Canadian Dollars) 
 

 

 

 
 
Commitments and Contingencies (notes 16 and 18) 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
 
Approved by the Yukon Workers’ Compensation Health and Safety Board 
  
  
 
___________________________ 
MMaarrkk  PPiikkee    
CChhaaiirr  
  
  

2019 2018
Note ($000s) ($000s)

ASSETS
Cash 1,501$                -$                     
Accounts receivable 6 2,858                   2,053                   
Prepaid expenses 304                       253                       
Investments 7 220,237             202,983             
Property and equipment 8 9,542                   9,677                   
Intangible assets 9 3,122                   3,009                   
Total assets 237,564$     217,975$     

LIABILITIES 
Bank overdraft 5 -$                     1,226$                
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 10 4,850                   4,767                  
Surplus distributions payable 14 -                        64                         
Deferred portion of government grant 11 72                         109                       
Benefits liability 12 160,659             155,499             
Employee benefits 13 3,407                   3,037                   

Total liabilities 168,988             164,702             

FUNDED POSITION (EQUITY) 14
Reserves 68,576                53,273                
Total equity 68,576                53,273                

Total liabilities and equity 237,564$     217,975$     
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Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income  
For the year ended December 31 

(In Canadian Dollars) 
 

 

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
 

 2019 2018
Note ($000s) ($000s)

Revenue and Income
Assessment revenue 27,551$             26,742$             
Net investment income (loss) 7 23,019                (2,490)                 
Recoveries and other receipts 1,465                   1,187                   

52,035                25,439                

Expenses
Claims expenses 12 22,786               22,104               
Administration 17

General and Administration 9,327                   9,006                   
Occupational Health and Safety 2,348                   2,137                   
Act and Regulation Amendments 
(previously referred to as Act Amendments) 976                       164                       
Workers' Advocate 409                       496                       
Employer Advisor 167                       153                       
Appeal Tribunal 143                       135                       

Prevention 603                       644                       
36,759               34,839               

Operating surplus (deficit) 15,276                (9,400)                 

  Funding policy surplus recoveries (distributions) 14 18                         (5,002)                 

Net surplus (deficit) 15,294                (14,402)               

Other comprehensive loss
All items presented in other comprehensive loss will 
not be reclassified to operating surplus in subsequent 
periods:

Actuarial gain (loss) on post-employment benefits 13 9                            (62)                        

Total comprehensive income (loss) 15,303$       (14,464)$      

Financial statements
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Statement of Changes in Funded Position (Equity) 
For the year ended December 31 

(In Canadian Dollars) 
 

 

 

 
 
Capital Management and Reserves (note 14) 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

Adverse
Stabilization Events

Reserve  Reserve Total
($000s) ($000s) ($000s)

Balance at January 1, 2018 44,062$   23,675$   67,737$   

Net deficit for 2018 (14,402)         -                  (14,402)         
Other comprehensive loss (62)                   -                  (62)                   
Total comprehensive loss for 2018 (14,464)         -                  (14,464)         
Transfer to / from Adverse Events Reserve (572)                572                 -                  
Balance at December 31, 2018 29,026$   24,247$   53,273$   

Net surplus for 2019 15,294           -                  15,294           
Other comprehensive gain 9                       -                  9                       
Total comprehensive income for 2019 15,303           -                  15,303           
Transfer to / from Adverse Events Reserve (733)                733                 -                  
Balance at December 31, 2019 43,596$   24,980$   68,576$   
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CCoommppeennssaattiioonn  FFuunndd  
Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended December 31 

(In Canadian Dollars) 
 

 

 

 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
  

2019 2018
($000s) ($000s)

Operating activities

Cash received from:
Employers, for assessments 27,929$             26,715$                  
Investment revenue - interest 2,784                   2,769                        
Investment revenue - dividends 3,193                   2,770                        
Recoveries and other receipts 959                       1,133                        

34,865                33,387                     

Cash paid:
To employers, for surplus distributions (46)                        (5,153)                      
For claims (17,739)               (17,759)                    
To employees and suppliers,
     for administration and prevention (13,706)               (11,591)                    

(31,491)               (34,503)                    

Total cash used by operating activities 3,374                   (1,116)                      

Investing activities

Net sale (purchase) of investments 518                       (857)                          
Purchases of property and equipment (277)                     (936)                          
Purchases of intangible assets (887)                     (551)                          

Total cash provided (used) by investing activities (646)                     (2,344)                      

Foreign exchange gain (loss) on cash held in foreign currency (1)                           2                                 

Increase (decrease) in cash 2,727            (3,458)              
Cash (bank overdraft), beginning of year (1,226)                 2,232                        
Cash (bank overdraft), end of year 1,501$          (1,226)$            

Financial statements
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CCoommppeennssaattiioonn  FFuunndd  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
December 31, 2019 

(In Canadian Dollars) 
 
 

 

11..    RReeppoorrttiinngg  EEnnttiittyy 
 
The Compensation Fund (the “Fund”) was established by the Workers’ Compensation Act of Yukon 
(the “Act”) and is administered by the Yukon Workers’ Compensation Health and Safety Board 
(the “Board”) pursuant to the Act. In 2008, the Act was amended and received assent in the 
Legislative Assembly. The effective date of the new Act was July 1, 2008. The Board is exempt 
from income tax and the Goods and Services Tax.  
 
The Fund, as administered by the Board, provides compensation for injury or death by accidents 
arising out of and in the course of employment. Annual assessments are levied upon employers by 
applying their industry assessment rate to their actual or estimated payrolls for the year. The 
assessment and investment revenue pays for all claims, administration and prevention expenses.  
 
Since 1992, the Board has also been responsible for the administration of the Occupational Health 
and Safety Act and regulations to advance strategies for preventing workplace injuries in the 
territory. 
 
The Board, a territorial entity, is domiciled in Canada and has its office at 401 Strickland Street, 
Whitehorse, Yukon, Canada. 
 
22..    SSttaatteemmeenntt  ooff  CCoommpplliiaannccee  aanndd  BBaassiiss  ooff  PPrreeppaarraattiioonn  
 
These financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  
 
The Board of Directors approved and authorized for issue the 2019 financial statements on April 
21, 2020.  
 
BBaassiiss  ooff  MMeeaassuurreemmeenntt  
 
These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the following:  
investments classified as held-for-trading that are measured at fair value, benefits liability and the 
employee benefits which are both actuarially determined. The Fund’s functional currency is the 
Canadian dollar, which is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Fund 
operates, which is also the presentation currency of the financial statements. 
 
All financial information is presented in Canadian dollars and tabular financial information has 
been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated. 
 
CCrriittiiccaall  AAccccoouunnttiinngg  EEssttiimmaatteess  aanndd  JJuuddggeemmeennttss    
 
The Board makes estimates and judgements in respect of certain key assets and liabilities of the 
Fund. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which 
the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 
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CCoommppeennssaattiioonn  FFuunndd  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
December 31, 2019 

(In Canadian Dollars) 
 
 

 

 
The significant areas of estimation uncertainties which have a significant risk of resulting in a 
material adjustment within the next financial year are the following: 
 
• Note 7 Investments – Valuation of financial instruments 
• Note 12 Benefits liability – Determination of discount rates and other assumptions 
• Note 12 Benefits liability – Determination of latent occupational disease provision 
 
The major areas of judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements are the following: 
 
• Note 7 Investments – Classification of financial instruments  
• Note 8 Property and equipment – The degree of componentization 
• Note 9 Intangible assets – The determination of development costs eligible for capitalization 

  
33..    AApppplliiccaattiioonn  ooff  NNeeww  aanndd  RReevviisseedd  IIFFRRSS  
 
((aa))  NNeeww  oorr  aammeennddeedd  ssttaannddaarrddss  eeffffeeccttiivvee  ffoorr  tthhee  ccuurrrreenntt  yyeeaarr  
 
IIFFRRSS  1166  LLeeaasseess  
In January 1, 2019, the Board, adopted IFRS 16 – Leases. The adoption of this standard had 
no significant impact on the Fund’s financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2019. 
 
The Board reviewed all other newly issued and amended standards issued for 2019 and concluded 
that there was no significant impact on the Fund’s financial statements for the year ending 
December 31, 2019 and does not anticipate in the future any significant impacts to the Fund’s 
financial statements as a result of these amendments effective January 1, 2019. 
 
((bb))  NNeeww  aanndd  rreevviisseedd  IIFFRRSS  iissssuueedd  bbuutt  nnoott  yyeett  eeffffeeccttiivvee  
  
IIFFRRSS  99  FFiinnaanncciiaall  IInnssttrruummeennttss  
In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 provides a revised model for recognition and measurement 
of financial instruments and a single, forward-looking 'expected loss' impairment model. IFRS 9 
also includes a substantially reformed approach to hedge accounting. The standard is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Board is eligible and will be using the 
temporary exemption allowed for based on amendments to IFRS 4 issued in March 2020 which 
delays implementation of IFRS 9 to 2023. 
 
The Board has applied the amendment effective January 1, 2018. In order to qualify for the 
exemption, the Board needed to have a ratio of liabilities connected with insurance compared to 
the total carrying amount of its liabilities greater than 90%. The Board achieved 95% as of 
December 31, 2019 (94% December 31, 2018) and therefore qualified for the exemption.  
 
With the exemption in place, the Board will continue to classify its investments as held-for- 
trading and measured at fair value through profit or loss, refer to note 7 for more details.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
December 31, 2019 

(In Canadian Dollars) 
 
 

 

 
Accounts receivable is classified as loans and receivables and due to their short term in nature, 
the carrying value approximates their fair value. Bank overdraft, accounts payable, accrued 
liabilities, and surplus distributions payable are classified as other financial liabilities. All will 
continue to be measured at fair value, and measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
rate method. Credit risk disclosure, including significant credit risk concentrations, are disclosed in 
note 5.  
 
The Board will continue to assess at year-end whether a receivable is considered to be 
uncollectible, and will write off against the allowance account.  
 
The impact of applying IFRS 9 is not expected to have a material impact. 
 
IIFFRRSS  1177  IInnssuurraannccee  CCoonnttrraaccttss  
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts was issued in May 2017. On March 17, 2020, the IASB: agreed to 
defer the effective date of IFRS 17 to annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2023; agreed to extend the fixed expiry date of the temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 for 
qualifying insurers (as contained in IFRS 4), so that all entities must apply IFRS 9 for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. The Board continues to monitor 
developments and discussion related to this standard. IFRS 17 will replace IFRS 4 Insurance 
Contracts and is expected to change the way insurance contract liabilities are recognized and 
measured. It will also change the presentation and disclosures of the Fund's financial statements.  
 
The Board is assessing the impact of this standard and expects that it may potentially have a 
significant impact on the Fund's financial statements. 
  
The Board reviewed all other new or revised standards issued but yet not effective for 2019 and 
concluded that there would be no significant impact on the Fund’s financial statements in the 
future as a result of these revisions.  
  
44..    SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  AAccccoouunnttiinngg  PPoolliicciieess   
 
The following is a summary of the significant accounting policies:  
  
((aa))  CCaasshh  
 
For the purposes of the Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flows, cash 
includes cash on hand and bank balances net of any bank overdrafts. Foreign currency 
transactions incurred within operating activities are translated based on the exchange rate at the 
time of the transaction. Any gains or losses incurred as result of translation are recorded in the 
Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income. The cash balance remaining in the account 
at year end is translated at the exchange rate in effect as of December 31, 2019.  
 
Cash and short-term investments held by custodians for investment purposes are not available for 
general use and are included in investments. 
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CCoommppeennssaattiioonn  FFuunndd  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
December 31, 2019 

(In Canadian Dollars) 
 
 

 

((bb))  AAsssseessssmmeennttss  aanndd  rreeccoovveerriieess  aanndd  ootthheerr  rreecceeiippttss  
 
Assessment revenue is calculated monthly on actual or estimated payrolls as reported by the 
employer, or on provisional assessments as determined by the Board. Separate rates of 
assessment are established for each industry classification. At year end, assessments receivable 
and payable are adjusted based on the difference between estimated and actual payrolls.  
 
The Government of Yukon pays certain claims costs to the Compensation Fund for claims prior to 
1993 and reimburses the cost of supplementary benefits pursuant to the Yukon Workers’ 
Compensation Supplementary Benefits Ordinance. Supplementary compensation benefits are 
granted, pursuant to the Yukon Workers’ Compensation Supplementary Benefits Ordinance, to all 
persons receiving compensation on or after October 1, 1973 for accidents prior to that date. 
Compensation is increased to the amount that would have been granted had the accident 
occurred after the Act came into force. The cost of these benefits is recovered from the Yukon 
Consolidated Revenue Fund. Effective January 1, 1993, all Government employees were covered 
by the Fund. The Government also reimburses the Compensation Fund for all claims costs 
associated with those injured workers, who are designated as workers employed by the 
Government under section 6 of the Act. These amounts are recorded in recoveries and other 
receipts in the year in which the related expenses are incurred (note 15(a)). 
 
((cc))  RReeccoovveerriieess  ffrroomm  tthhiirrdd  ppaarrttiieess  
 
Since July 1, 2008, under section 51 of the Workers’ Compensation Act, the Board is deemed to be 
an assignee of a cause of action in respect of a worker’s injury that arose out of a work-related 
injury. If settled, or as a result of a Court decision, the legal costs and costs associated with the 
claim create the settlement. Out of the settlement are paid the legal costs, and legal 
disbursements, and all past, present and future costs. Any funds remaining will be paid to the 
worker. The amount recovered for past, present and future costs is used to pay for future claims 
benefits, which were previously expensed in accordance with actuarial calculations, and which 
were previously incorporated in the benefits liability. 
 
Recoveries from third parties are recognized when their receipt is virtually certain and the amount 
can be reliably measured. They are recorded as a recovery in the year they are recognized. No 
provision is made in the benefits liability for possible future third party recoveries because of their 
contingent nature. 
  
((dd))  FFiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss  
  
IInnvveessttmmeennttss  
Investments are classified as held-for-trading because they are acquired for the purpose of selling 
or repurchasing in the near term and are measured at fair value through profit or loss. The fair 
value of publicly traded investments is the quoted market price which approximates the bid price 
at the end of the reporting period. Pooled fund units are valued at their year end net asset value, 
as determined by the fund manager. Purchases and sales of investments are recognized on the 
trade date. Short-term investments held by the investment managers for investment purposes are 
included in Investments. 
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Net investment income is comprised of realized gains and losses earned in the period arising on 
the sale of investments; unrealized gains and losses arising from fluctuations in fair value in the 
period; and dividends and interest earned in the period; net of investment management fees and 
transaction costs. 
 
Investments denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at exchange 
rates prevailing at the end of the year. Income from investments is translated at the rate in effect 
at the time it is earned. Exchange gains and losses resulting from the translation of foreign 
currency balances and transactions are recognized in net investment income in the period in 
which they arise.  
 
The Board does not enter into any financial derivative instruments as part of managing the Fund’s 
investment portfolio. 
 
OOtthheerr  ffiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss  aanndd  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  
Accounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables. Bank overdraft, accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities, and surplus distributions payable are classified as other financial liabilities. All 
are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate method. Due to the short-term nature of accounts receivable, bank 
overdraft, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and surplus distributions payable, their 
carrying values approximate their fair values, which are classified as Level 2 in the fair value 
hierarchy. 
  
FFaaiirr  vvaalluuee  hhiieerraarrcchhyy  
The Fund uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of its financial 
instruments by valuation technique: 
 

• Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
• Level 2: Other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the 

recorded fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly;  
• Level 3: Techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair 

value that are not based on observable market data. 
 
Changes in valuation methods may result in transfers into or out of an instrument’s assigned 
level.  The Board’s policy is to recognize transfers into or out of the fair value hierarchy levels as of 
the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. There were no such 
transfers between levels in 2019 (2018 – No transfers). 
 
IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt  ooff  ffiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss  
The carrying amount of accounts receivable is reduced through the use of an allowance account. 
When a receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. The 
Board assesses at each reporting date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is 
impaired. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the 
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognized in 
profit or loss.  
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(In Canadian Dollars) 
 
 

 

 
DDeerreeccooggnniittiioonn  ooff  ffiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss  aanndd  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  
A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual right to the cash flows from the asset 
expires or if the Board transfers the financial asset and substantially all risk and rewards of 
ownership to another entity. 
 
Financial liabilities are derecognized when the contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled, 
or expire.  
  
((ee))  PPrrooppeerrttyy  aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt  

Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment. Depreciation is calculated based on the straight-line method, using rates based on 
the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: 

 
Buildings and fixtures      10 – 75 years  
Furniture and equipment    5 – 15 years  
Computer equipment      5 – 7 years 
  

Where an item of property and equipment is comprised of significant components with different 
useful lives, the components are accounted for separately.  
 
The estimated useful life, residual value and depreciation method is reviewed at each year end 
and any change in estimate is made on a prospective basis.  
 
((ff))  IInnttaannggiibbllee  aasssseettss  
 
Intangible assets are comprised of purchased software and internally developed software 
systems.  
 
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs of internally developed software 
systems are capitalized when the system is technically feasible, resources are available, costs can 
be measured reliably, management intends to use the asset and future economic benefits are 
probable. The asset is derecognized when it no longer meets these criteria. Salaries, wages and 
benefits directly related to internally developed software systems are included in the asset’s cost. 
When the asset is substantially complete and is available for use, development costs capitalization 
ceases and the costs are transferred to the related asset category and amortized.  
 
Intangible assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 
impairment. Amortization is calculated based on the straight-line method, using rates based on 
the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: 
 

Systems and software   5 – 25 years 
 
The estimated useful life and amortization period is reviewed at each year end and any change in 
estimate is made on a prospective basis. 
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((gg))  IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt  ooff  nnoonn--ffiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss  
  
IAS 36 Impairment of Assets requires an entity to test assets for impairment if indicators of 
impairment exist.  The impairment review must be conducted for an individual asset, an asset 
group, or the cash-generating unit level, which is the smallest identifiable group of assets that 
generates cash inflows independent of cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. 
 
Based on an analysis of cash flows, the Board has established that the appropriate cash generating 
unit for impairment review is the entity. The Board has statutory power under the Act to increase 
premiums and/or charge a premium surcharge to ensure full funding into the foreseeable future 
and therefore, the likelihood of impairment at the entity level is remote.  
 
Individual assets that may have experienced impairment due to loss, damage, obsolescence or 
curtailed service potential will be reviewed and the estimated useful life, depreciation method 
and residual value adjusted. 
 
The Board assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Board estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. As at December 31, 2019, management 
conducted an impairment review at the entity level, which confirmed that there were no 
indicators of impairment—changes in the legislative, economic or business environment—that 
would have a material impact on the Board’s ability to generate future economic benefits from its 
operating (non-financial) assets. 
 
((hh))  GGoovveerrnnmmeenntt  ggrraannttss 
 
There are two types of government grants which include government grants related to expenses 
and government grants related to assets. Government grants related to expenses are recognized 
as income when there is reasonable assurance that the conditions attached to the grant will be 
complied with and the grant will be received. When the grant relates to an asset, it is recognized 
as deferred income and is released into income in equal amounts over the expected useful life of 
the related asset. 
 
In 2005, the Government of Yukon approved the reinstatement of ongoing funding for the Mine 
Safety Program (the “Program”) through an annual grant to the Fund. The Program, which was 
transferred to the Board in 1993, provides mine rescue training and support services as well as 
mine safety inspection services. The funding is to be reviewed by the Government, at a minimum, 
every five years. The grant is accounted for as income in the period in which the related expenses 
are incurred (note 11).  
 
In 2011, the Board signed an agreement with the Government of Yukon which provides the Fund 
with funding for the purpose of upgrading mine safety equipment. The grant is accounted for as 
deferred income and released into income over the expected useful life of the equipment (note 
11).  
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((ii))  BBeenneeffiittss  lliiaabbiilliittyy  
 
The benefits liability is determined annually and represents the actuarial present value of all 
future benefit payments expected to be made for claims which have occurred in the current fiscal 
year or in any prior year. The benefits liability includes a provision for future payments on claims 
that have not been finalized to date. It also includes a provision for all benefits provided by 
current legislation, policies and administrative practices in respect of existing claims as well as 
future claims management costs. A provision has been made for claims related to known latent 
occupational diseases which may have occurred in the current or previous years, but which may 
not be recognized and reported for a number of years due to the extended latency period of such 
diseases. Due to the nature of the estimated liability for long latent occupational diseases and the 
extent of related historical claims information available, this liability is more uncertain by its 
nature than other benefits liabilities (note 12). 
   
The benefits liability is comprised of four liabilities—medical aid, compensation, pension, and 
annuity: 
   

• Medical aid includes benefits for medical aid, emergency transportation, traditional 
aboriginal healing, death and funeral expenses, lump sum payments for permanent 
impairment, and rehabilitation assistance.  
 

• Compensation includes income amounts that are paid to all eligible workers who suffer a 
work-related injury, incapacity or occupational disease that has resulted in a loss of 
earnings. 
   

• The pension liability includes monthly pension benefits indexed annually that are paid to 
spouses, dependent children and guardians of dependent children of those who die from 
a work-related injury.   
   

• The annuity liability is for workers who have received compensation for the same 
disability for at least 24 months. An amount equal to ten percent of the total 
compensation payments, plus interest, is set aside to provide a retirement annuity when 
a worker becomes entitled to apply for Old Age Security benefits. 

  
Many assumptions are required to calculate the benefits liability, including estimates of future 
inflation, interest rates, and mortality rates. The benefits liability is determined annually by an 
independent actuarial valuation. The Actuarial Statement of Opinion on the adequacy and 
appropriateness of the benefits liability is attached to these financial statements.  
 
A portion of administration and general expenses is allocated as claims management costs to the 
current year’s claims and the prior years’ claims. The amount allocated to claims is reviewed by 
the independent actuary for reasonableness as part of the annual actuarial valuation of the 
benefits liability.  
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((jj))  EEmmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss  
 
SShhoorrtt--tteerrmm  eemmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss 
Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within twelve months of the reporting date are 
measured on an undiscounted basis. These benefits include annual vacation leave earned but not 
yet used.  
 
OOtthheerr  lloonngg--tteerrmm  eemmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss 
Benefits that are expected to be settled beyond twelve months are determined based on an 
actuarial valuation as the best estimate of future cash flows discounted to present value with 
actuarial gains and losses recognized in profit and loss as incurred. These benefits include long 
service vacation leave, sick leave, and special leave benefits earned but not used.  
 
PPoosstt--eemmppllooyymmeenntt  bbeenneeffiittss 
 
((ii))  RReettiirreemmeenntt  aanndd  sseevveerraannccee  bbeenneeffiittss  
Retirement or severance benefits are available to employees who have completed five years of 
service with the Board. Payments are made upon retirement or termination, with benefits 
increasing with additional length of service. The benefit obligation is determined based on an 
actuarial valuation using estimates of future inflation and interest rates. Actuarial gains and losses 
are recognized in other comprehensive income as incurred. The obligation is calculated using the 
projected unit credit method prorated on service.  
 
((iiii))  PPuubblliicc  SSeerrvviiccee  PPeennssiioonn  PPllaann  
Substantially all of the employees of the Board are covered by the Public Service Pension Plan (the 
“Plan”), a contributory defined benefit plan established through legislation and sponsored by the 
Government of Canada. Contributions are required by both the employees and the Fund to cover 
current service cost. Pursuant to legislation currently in place, the Fund has no legal or 
constructive obligation to pay further contributions with respect to any past service or funding 
deficiencies of the Plan. Consequently, contributions are recognized as an expense in the year 
when employees have rendered service and represent the total pension obligation of the Fund.  
 
((kk))  FFuunnddiinngg  ppoolliiccyy  ssuurrpplluuss  ddiissttrriibbuuttiioonnss  
  
The Board may issue surplus distributions in accordance with its Funding Policy. These are 
recorded as an expense in the period in which they are approved by the Board of Directors and 
issued. Surplus distributions that are approved but not issued are recorded as payable when the 
amount of such distributions can be reliably estimated and when it is probable a payment will be 
issued in the future to settle the obligation. 
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55..    RRiisskk  MMaannaaggeemmeenntt 
 
The Fund has exposure to the following financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk 
(which also includes inflation risk, interest rate risk and currency risk). The Fund’s exposure to 
these risks arises primarily in relation to its investment portfolio, but also in relation to its other 
financial assets and financial liabilities.   
 
The Board’s management is responsible for monitoring performance and recommending changes 
to the Investment Policy. The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for governance and 
strategic direction of the investment portfolio through its review and approval of the Investment 
Policy and selection of investment managers. The investment managers’ compliance with this 
Investment Policy is monitored on a regular basis. Quarterly, independent consultants benchmark 
the performance of the Fund’s investment managers and advise on the appropriateness and 
effectiveness of the Fund’s Investment Policy and practices.  
 
The following sections present information about the Fund’s exposure to each of the above risks 
and the Board’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing each risk. There 
were no changes to these risks or the Board’s objectives, policies and process for managing them 
during the year ended December 31, 2019.  
 
CCrreeddiitt  rriisskk  
Credit risk on financial instruments arises from the possibility that the issuer of a fixed-term 
instrument fails to meet its obligations. Excess cash is held on deposit with the Government of 
Yukon’s banker. Short-term deposits with this bank are rated as R-1 (high). To manage this risk, 
the Board, as prescribed in the Investment Policy, has determined that cash and cash equivalents 
held in the investment portfolio and short-term investments must have a credit rating of at least 
R1L, and long-term investments require a rating of BBB or higher by the Dominion Bond Rating 
Service or the equivalent rating by Moody’s, in order to be eligible for consideration as an 
investment. Diversification of credit risk is managed by limiting the exposure in a single private 
institution to 15% of the portfolio. The Board has stayed within these guidelines during the year. 
 
Fixed Income Portfolio Credit Ratings 
 

 
 
The Fund’s exposure to credit risk associated with its accounts receivable is the risk that an 
employer or a cost recovery customer (the “customer”) will be unable to pay amounts due to the 
Fund. The Fund’s maximum exposure to credit risk associated with its accounts receivable is 
$2,858,000 (2018 – $2,053,000). Allowances for doubtful accounts are provided for potential 
losses that have been incurred at the reporting date. The amounts disclosed on the Statement of 
Financial Position are net of these allowances for doubtful accounts. Accounts receivable are 
considered for impairment on a case-by-case basis when they are past due or when objective 
evidence is received that a customer may default. At December 31, 2019, there were no accounts 

31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Ratings AAA AA A BBB ($000's) ($000's)

  
Fixed Income Securities 32,451$       30,758$       21,559$       7,720$           92,488$        88,744$         
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receivable that were past due but not impaired. The Board takes into consideration the 
customer’s payment history, their credit worthiness and the current economic environment in 
which the customer operates to assess impairment. The Board recognizes a bad debt provision 
when management considers that the expected recovery is less than the carrying amount 
receivable.  
 
The Board believes that the credit risk of accounts receivable is mitigated by the following:  
 

i. The employer base is dispersed across various industries, with government comprising a 
significant concentration. The non-government based employers may be affected by any 
downturns due to prevailing economic conditions. 

ii. As at December 31, 2019, approximately 94% (2018 – 86%) of accounts receivable were 
outstanding for less than 90 days. The Board does not require collateral or other security 
from employers or customers for accounts receivable. 

iii. The Board has the power and remedies to enforce payment owing to the Fund. 
 

LLiiqquuiiddiittyy  rriisskk  
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund is not able to meet its financial obligations as they become 
due or can do so only at excessive cost. The Fund’s operations are financed through a 
combination of the cash flows from operations and investments. One of management’s primary 
goals is to maintain an optimal level of liquidity through the active management of the assets and 
liabilities as well as the cash flows.  
 
The Fund has access to the Government of Yukon’s overall line of credit facility with the 
Government’s banker. This access provides the Fund with overdraft coverage of $7,000,000 if 
needed. As of December 31, the Fund had used nil of the overdraft coverage ($1,226,000 - 2018). 
The bank overdraft is payable on demand and is interest bearing based on standard market 
interest rates for cash deposits. 
 
The Fund’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities had a carrying value of $4,850,000 as at 
December 31, 2019 (2018 – $4,767,000) and were all payable within a year. 
 
The Fund’s surplus distributions payable had a carrying value of nil as at December 31, 2019 (2018 
- $64,000) (note 14). 
 
Liquidity risk related to the Benefits liability is included in note 12 (f).  
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MMaarrkkeett  rriisskk 
The Fund is exposed to market risk, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of its 
investments will fluctuate in the future because of economic conditions. Market risk is managed 
through diversification between different asset classes and geographic diversification and by 
limiting the concentration in any single entity to 15% or less of the fair value of the investment 
fund (note 7). 
 
The table below presents the Fund’s investment targets and actual asset mix at fair value: 
 

 
 
The table below presents the effect of a material adverse change in the fair value of each of the 
categories of equities in the Fund’s investments portfolio on operating results and equity: 
 

  
IInnffllaattiioonn  rriisskk 
Inflation risk is the risk that a general increase in price level may result in loss of future purchasing 
power of current monetary assets. The Board manages inflation risk through its investment 
allocation between equities and fixed income investments. 
 
IInntteerreesstt  rraattee  rriisskk  
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial security will fluctuate due to changes in 
market interest rates. The Fund’s investment portfolio is exposed to interest rate risk through its 
holdings of short and long-term fixed income investments. Interest rate risk is minimized by 
actively managing the duration of the fixed income investments. 
 
The table below presents the effects of a 50 and 100 basis point (“bp”)1 adverse change in the 
nominal interest rate on the fair value of the bond portfolio on operating results and equity: 

Minimum Maximum 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Equities

Canadian 0% 25% 17.5% 18.4%
United States 0% 25% 17.4% 17.0%
International 0% 25% 20.8% 18.5%

Fixed Income
Short-term investments 0% 10% 2.3% 2.4%
Bonds 35% 85% 42.0% 43.7%

100.0% 100.0%

Target Actual

Percentage decrease in fair value -10% -20% -10% -20%

Equities
  Canadian (3,853)$      (7,707)$      (3,736)$        (7,472)$        
  United States (3,839)        (7,678)        (3,445)           (6,890)           
  International (4,575)        (9,151)        (3,749)           (7,498)           
Total impact on operating results and equity (12,267)$   (24,536)$   (10,930)$     (21,860)$     

31-Dec-19
($000's)

31-Dec-18
($000's)
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(1) One basis point (bp) equals 1/100 of 1%; 50 bps = 50/100 of 1%, or 0.5%. 

 
In the event the nominal interest rates decrease by 50 and 100 basis points, the impact will be 
equal and opposite to the above stated values. 
 
The table below presents the remaining terms to maturity at fair value, along with the average 
effective yields for each maturity, for fixed income investments exposed to inflation and interest 
rate risk:  
 

 
(1) Maturity is defined as the earliest a bond can be redeemed without penalty by the bond issuer. 

 
The Fund is also exposed to the risk that interest rate movements may materially impact the value 
of its benefits liability (note 12(e)). 
  
CCuurrrreennccyy  rriisskk  
Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial assets and financial liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies will fluctuate due to changes in their respective exchange rates relative to the 
Canadian dollar.  
 
The Fund is exposed to exchange rate volatility that is managed by the contracted fund managers. 
The Board does not undertake long-term hedging strategies for the currency risk of foreign 
investments. The Fund’s most significant exposure is to the US Dollar, Euro, British Pound, Swiss 
Franc, and the Japanese Yen. At December 31, the Fund held foreign currency denominated 
holdings, at fair value as follows:  

 
 

Positive bp change in nominal interest rate +50bp +100bp +50bp +100bp

Bonds (3,253)$      (6,505)$      (2,968)$        (5,936)$        
Total impact on operating results and equity (3,253)$      (6,505)$      (2,968)$        (5,936)$        

31-Dec-19
($000's)

31-Dec-18
($000's)

31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
($000's) ($000's)

< 1 year 1 - 5 years 5 - 10 years > 10 years Total Total 

Bonds 3,873$         39,473$       24,542$       24,600$        92,488$        88,744$         
Average effective yield 1.91% 2.19% 2.40% 2.50% 2.32% 2.88%

Remaining term to maturity (1)

31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Currency ($000's) ($000's)

US Dollar 44,818$        38,574$        
Euro 14,613$        13,497$        
Pound 7,538$           6,260$          
Yen 5,823$           2,874$          
Swiss Franc 5,745$           5,316$          
Hong Kong Dollar 900$               1,900$          
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The sensitivity analysis below presents the effect of a ten percent appreciation in the Canadian 
dollar as compared to the US Dollar, Euro, British Pound, Swiss Franc, and the Japanese Yen on 
operating results and equity: 
  

  
In the event there is a ten percent depreciation in the Canadian dollar, the impact will be equal 
and opposite to the above stated values. 
 
66..    AAccccoouunnttss  RReecceeiivvaabbllee  
  

 
 
Included in other receivables and recoveries are amounts due from the Government of Yukon, 
which are disclosed in note 15.   
  
RReeccoonncciilliiaattiioonn  ooff  aalllloowwaannccee  ffoorr  ddoouubbttffuull  aaccccoouunnttss  
  
The allowance for doubtful accounts is a provision for potential credit losses and amounts are 
subsequently written off once reasonable collection efforts have been made. The allowance 
details are as follows: 

  

31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Currency ($000's) ($000's)

US Dollar (4,074)$          (3,507)$         
Euro (1,328)$          (1,227)$         
Pound (685)$              (569)$             
Yen (529)$              (261)$             
Swiss Franc (522)$              (483)$             
Hong Kong Dollar (81)$                (171)$             

31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
($000s) ($000s)

Assessments
Assessed and due from employers 2,220$           2,116$           
Allowance for doubtful accounts (67)                   (262)                 

2,153$           1,854$           
Other 

Other receivables and recoveries 751$               242$               
Allowance for doubtful accounts (46)                   (43)                   

705$               199$               
 2,858$           2,053$           

31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
($000's) ($000's)

Balance, beginning of year 305$               124$               
Accounts written off (118)                 (18)                   
Recoveries and other adjustments (201)                 (57)                   
Current year provision 127                  256                 
Balance, end of year 113$               305$               
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77..    IInnvveessttmmeennttss  
  
The Board of Directors has established an Investment Policy for the management of the 
investment process, utilizing external investment managers. The investment managers’ 
compliance with this Investment Policy is monitored on a regular basis. 
 

 
 
Net investment income (loss) for the year ended December 31 consisted of the following: 
 

  

31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
 ($000s) ($000s)

Fair Value Fair Value
Fixed-term securities

Federal bonds 25,548$        24,146$        
Provincial bonds 20,202           16,637           
Corporate bonds 46,738           47,961           

92,488           88,744           
 Equities

Canadian 38,533           37,359           
United States 38,388           34,451           
International 45,755           37,489           

122,676         109,299         
Other investments

Cash on account 162                 609                 
Short-term investments 4,484              3,830              
Accrued interest receivable 515                 579                 

5,161              5,018              

Investments, sub-total 220,325         203,061         
Management fee accrual (88)                   (78)                   

 220,237$      202,983$      

2019 2018
($000s) ($000s)

   Interest 2,746$             2,758$             
   Dividends 3,193                2,770                
   Realized gains in the year 3,300                11,244             
   Unrealized gain (loss) in fair value in the year 14,520             (18,555)            
   Investment management fees (740)                   (707)                   

 23,019$           (2,490)$            
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FFaaiirr  VVaalluuee  HHiieerraarrcchhyy  
The Fund’s investments are categorized into the fair value hierarchy based on type, frequency and 
visibility of pricing, source of pricing and liquidity. There are three levels of classification:  
 
 A Level 1 classification reflects public daily market or quote pricing with a good volume level.  
 
 A Level 2 classification is used when pricing is:  

a) model or matrix based (using observable inputs and/or market information); 
b) based on closely-related securities;  
c) derived pricing (when no public quote exists); or  
d) from a broker quote on less active markets.  
 

A Level 3 security would have no public pricing and poor to non-existent liquidity. 
 
As at December 31, 2019, the Fund held the following financial instruments measured at fair 
value: 
 

 
 
As at December 31, 2018, the Fund held the following financial instruments measured at fair 
value: 
 

 
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
($000s) ($000s) ($000s) ($000s)

Cash and Cash Equivalents 5,073$           -$                -$                5,073$           
Bonds 8,408              84,080           -                   92,488           
Equities 55,197           -                   -                   55,197           
Pooled Funds -                   67,479           -                   67,479           
Total Investments 68,678$         151,559$      -$                220,237$      

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
($000s) ($000s) ($000s) ($000s)

Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,940$           -$                -$                4,940$           
Bonds 8,511              80,233           -                   88,744           
Equities 50,190           -                   -                   50,190           
Pooled Funds -                   59,109           -                   59,109           
Total Investments 63,641$         139,342$      -$                202,983$      
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88..    PPrrooppeerrttyy  aanndd  EEqquuiippmmeenntt    
  
 

 
  
During the year ended December 31, 2019 the Board reviewed all capital assets and using 
judgement determined if any changes in useful life were required. This review resulted in changes 
to the expected useful life of certain items included in buildings and fixtures. The effect of these 
changes on depreciation expenses was not significant. 
 
 

Buildings and Furniture and Computer and Assets under
Land  Fixtures Equipment Equipment construction Total

($000s) ($000s) ($000s) ($000s) ($000s) ($000s)

Cost
At January 1, 2018 1,045$         9,984$                  1,475$                   818$                   16$                     13,338$      
Additions -                 76                           86                             155                      700                     1,017            
Disposals -                 (291)                       (53)                           (32)                       -                      (376)              
Transfers -                 700                         -                           -                       (700)                   -                 
At December 31, 2018 1,045$    10,469$         1,508$            941$             16$              13,979$  

Depreciation and impairment
At January 1, 2018 -$              2,637$                  881$                       603$                   -$                   4,121$         
Depreciation -                 240                         130                          113                      -                      483                
Disposals -                 (217)                       (53)                           (32)                       -                      (302)              
Impairment -                 -                          -                           -                       -                      -                 
At December 31, 2018 -$         2,660$           958$                684$             -$            4,302$    

Net book value
At December 31, 2018 1,045$    7,809$           550$                257$             16$              9,677$    

Cost
At January 1, 2019 1,045$         10,469$               1,508$                   941$                   16$                     13,979$      
Additions -                 18                           99                             102                      146                     365                
Disposals -                 -                          (50)                           (71)                       -                      (121)              
Transfers -                 -                          -                           -                       -                      -                 
At December 31, 2019 1,045$    10,487$         1,557$            972$             162$            14,223$  

Depreciation and impairment
At January 1, 2019 -$              2,660$                  958$                       684$                   -$                   4,302$         
Depreciation -                 237                         135                          110                      -                      482                
Disposals -                 -                          (32)                           (71)                       -                      (103)              
Impairment -                 -                          -                           -                       -                      -                 
At December 31, 2019 -$         2,897$           1,061$            723$             -$            4,681$    

Net book value
At December 31, 2019 1,045$    7,590$           496$                249$             162$            9,542$    
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99.. IInnttaannggiibbllee  AAsssseettss  
  

  
 
 

Internal Software Software
Development Systems Under Software

Costs (1) Development Costs Total
($000s) ($000s) ($000s) ($000s)

Cost
At January 1, 2018 9,054$                     108$                      1,003$                 10,165$              
Additions 299                           319                        44                          662                        
Disposals -                            -                         (19)                         (19)                         
Transfer systems to production -                            -                         -                         -                         
At December 31, 2018 9,353$             427$              1,028$          10,808$        

Amortization and impairment
At January 1, 2018 6,369$                     -$                       785$                     7,154$                 
Amortization 594                           -                         70                          664                        
Disposals -                            -                         (19)                         (19)                         
Impairment -                            -                         -                         -                         
At December 31, 2018 6,963$             -$               836$              7,799$          

Net book value
At December 31, 2018 2,390$             427$              192$              3,009$          

Cost
At January 1, 2019 9,353$                     427$                      1,028$                 10,808$              
Additions 275                           449                        129                        853                        
Disposals (338)                          -                         (50)                         (388)                      
Transfer systems to production 258                           (259)                       1                             -                         
At December 31, 2019 9,548$             617$              1,108$          11,273$        

Amortization and impairment
At January 1, 2019 6,963$                     -$                       836$                     7,799$                 
Amortization 636                           -                         68                          704                        
Disposals (302)                          -                         (50)                         (352)                      
Impairment -                            -                         -                         -                         
At December 31, 2019 7,297$             -$               854$              8,151$          

Net book value
At December 31, 2019 2,251$             617$              254$              3,122$          
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(1) Included in internal software development costs is the claims management system which has a 
net book value of $765,000 (2018 – $1,021,000) and a remaining amortization period of 3 
years.  

 
System research and analysis costs expensed in 2019 were $14,000 (2018 – $103,000). 
  
During the year ended December 31, 2019 the Board reviewed all intangible assets and using 
judgement determined if any changes in useful life were required. This review resulted in changes 
to the expected useful life of certain items included in internal software development costs. The 
effect of these changes was not significant. 
  
1100..    AAccccoouunnttss  PPaayyaabbllee  aanndd  AAccccrruueedd  LLiiaabbiilliittiieess  
  

  
 
Included in other payables and accrued liabilities are amounts due to the Government of Yukon, 
which are disclosed in note 15.   
  
1111..    GGoovveerrnnmmeenntt  GGrraannttss  
  
In 2019, the Fund received $330,000 for the Mine Safety Program Grant (2018 – $330,000).  This 
was accounted for as income in the period.  
 
The deferred portion of the government grant as at December 31, 2019 was $72,000 (2018 – 
$109,500) and $37,500 (2018 – $36,500) was expensed and released into income during the year.  
 
There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attached to these grants.  

31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
($000s) ($000s)

Payable
Assessments refundable 2,716$           2,012$           
Other payables and accrued liabilities 2,134             2,755             

4,850$           4,767$           
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(1) Included in internal software development costs is the claims management system which has a 
net book value of $765,000 (2018 – $1,021,000) and a remaining amortization period of 3 
years.  

 
System research and analysis costs expensed in 2019 were $14,000 (2018 – $103,000). 
  
During the year ended December 31, 2019 the Board reviewed all intangible assets and using 
judgement determined if any changes in useful life were required. This review resulted in changes 
to the expected useful life of certain items included in internal software development costs. The 
effect of these changes was not significant. 
  
1100..    AAccccoouunnttss  PPaayyaabbllee  aanndd  AAccccrruueedd  LLiiaabbiilliittiieess  
  

  
 
Included in other payables and accrued liabilities are amounts due to the Government of Yukon, 
which are disclosed in note 15.   
  
1111..    GGoovveerrnnmmeenntt  GGrraannttss  
  
In 2019, the Fund received $330,000 for the Mine Safety Program Grant (2018 – $330,000).  This 
was accounted for as income in the period.  
 
The deferred portion of the government grant as at December 31, 2019 was $72,000 (2018 – 
$109,500) and $37,500 (2018 – $36,500) was expensed and released into income during the year.  
 
There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attached to these grants.  

31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
($000s) ($000s)

Payable
Assessments refundable 2,716$           2,012$           
Other payables and accrued liabilities 2,134             2,755             

4,850$           4,767$           
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(1) Included in internal software development costs is the claims management system which has a 
net book value of $765,000 (2018 – $1,021,000) and a remaining amortization period of 3 
years.  

 
System research and analysis costs expensed in 2019 were $14,000 (2018 – $103,000). 
  
During the year ended December 31, 2019 the Board reviewed all intangible assets and using 
judgement determined if any changes in useful life were required. This review resulted in changes 
to the expected useful life of certain items included in internal software development costs. The 
effect of these changes was not significant. 
  
1100..    AAccccoouunnttss  PPaayyaabbllee  aanndd  AAccccrruueedd  LLiiaabbiilliittiieess  
  

  
 
Included in other payables and accrued liabilities are amounts due to the Government of Yukon, 
which are disclosed in note 15.   
  
1111..    GGoovveerrnnmmeenntt  GGrraannttss  
  
In 2019, the Fund received $330,000 for the Mine Safety Program Grant (2018 – $330,000).  This 
was accounted for as income in the period.  
 
The deferred portion of the government grant as at December 31, 2019 was $72,000 (2018 – 
$109,500) and $37,500 (2018 – $36,500) was expensed and released into income during the year.  
 
There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attached to these grants.  

31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
($000s) ($000s)

Payable
Assessments refundable 2,716$           2,012$           
Other payables and accrued liabilities 2,134             2,755             

4,850$           4,767$           
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1122..    BBeenneeffiittss  LLiiaabbiilliittyy  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  
  
  

Occupational 
Disease

Medical Aid Compensation Pension Annuity Provision Total

Balance, beginning of year 27,346$         70,956$                 34,321$          9,062$           13,814$          155,499$      

Add claims costs incurred:
Current year injuries 5,935              9,119                     352                  -                   -                   15,406           
Prior years' injuries 443                  1,980                     2,200              1                       -                   4,624              
Latent occupational
disease provision -                   -                          -                   -                   2,756              2,756              

6,378              11,099                  2,552              1                       2,756               22,786           
Less claims payments made:

Current year injuries 2,566              1,448                     -                   -                   -                   4,014              
Claims management 385                  217                         -                   -                   -                   602                  

Prior years' injuries 3,055              6,169                     2,229              (84)                   -                   11,369           
Claims management 458                  849                         334                  -                   -                   1,641              

 6,464              8,683                     2,563              (84)                   -                   17,626           

Balance, end of year 27,260$         73,372$                34,310$         9,147$           16,570$         160,659$      

2019
($000s)

 Occupational 
Disease

Medical Aid Compensation Pension Annuity Provision Total

Balance, beginning of year 26,953$         70,638$                31,352$         8,781$           13,428$         151,152$      

Add claims costs incurred:
Current year injuries 6,566              8,197                     1,598              -                   -                   16,361           
Prior years' injuries 818                  474                         4,065              -                   -                   5,357              
Latent occupational
disease provision -                   -                          -                   -                   386                  386                  

7,384              8,671                      5,663               -                   386                   22,104           
Less claims payments made:

Current year injuries 3,011              1,319                     47                     -                   -                   4,377              
Claims management 452                  198                         7                       -                   -                   657                  

Prior years' injuries 3,068              6,003                     2,296              (281)                 -                   11,086           
Claims management 460                  833                         344                  -                   -                   1,637              

 6,991              8,353                     2,694              (281)                 -                   17,757           

Balance, end of year 27,346$         70,956$                 34,321$          9,062$           13,814$          155,499$      

2018
($000s)
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The following is an actuarial reconciliation of the changes in the benefits liability during the years 
ended December 31: 
  

  
 
((aa))    OObbjjeeccttiivveess  iinn  mmaannaaggiinngg  rriisskkss  aarriissiinngg  ffrroomm  iinnssuurraannccee  ccoonnttrraaccttss  aanndd  ppoolliicciieess  ffoorr  mmiittiiggaattiinngg  tthhoossee  

rriisskkss 
 
The Board has an objective to control insurance risk, thus reducing the volatility of operating 
results. In addition, due to the inherent uncertainty of insurance risk, which can lead to significant 
variability in the loss experience, operating results from the Fund’s workers’ compensation 
business are affected by market factors, particularly movements in asset values. Short-term 
variability is, to some extent, a feature of the workers’ compensation business. 
 
Key aspects of processes established to mitigate insurance risks include: 
 

• The maintenance and use of management information systems, which provide data on the 
risks to which the Fund is exposed to at any point in time;  

• Actuarial models, using information from the management information system, are used to 
monitor claims patterns and calculate assessment premiums. Past experience and 
statistical methods are used as part of the process; and 

• The asset mix of the Fund investments is driven by the nature and term of insurance 
liabilities. The management of assets and liabilities is closely monitored to attempt to 
match maturity dates of assets with the expected pattern of claim payments.  

  

2019 2018
($ 000's) ($ 000's)

Balance, beginning of year 155,499$  151,152$   
Add:

Provision for current year’s claims 10,790       11,327        
Interest allocated 8,028          7,823           
Experience (gain) loss (648)             (2,080)          

18,170       17,070        
Deduct:

Payments for prior years’ claims 13,010       12,723        

Balance, end of year 160,659$  155,499$   
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((bb))    TTeerrmmss  aanndd  ccoonnddiittiioonnss  ooff  tthhee  AAcctt  
 
The terms and conditions attaching to the Act affect the level of insurance risk accepted by the 
Fund. All workers’ compensation coverage entered into is subject to substantially the same terms 
and conditions under the Act. 
 
((cc))    CCoonncceennttrraattiioonn  ooff  iinnssuurraannccee  rriisskk  
  
The Fund’s exposure to insurance risk is due to workplace injury caused through an event or 
disaster that occurred during the reporting period, and/or occupational diseases diagnosed during 
the reporting period. The Fund’s benefits liability includes an amount estimated to cover any such 
occurrences. This figure is reviewed on an annual basis. The Fund’s risk is concentrated by 
industry as some industries have higher claims experience costs than other industries and is 
mitigated by higher assessments being charged to industries with proven higher experience costs.  
  
((dd))    DDeevveellooppmmeenntt  ooff  ccllaaiimmss  
  
There is a possibility that changes may occur in the estimate of the Fund’s obligations over time. 
The tables in part (i) of this note show the estimates of total net and gross claims outstanding for 
each underwriting year at successive year ends. 
  
((ee))    IInntteerreesstt  rraattee  rriisskk  
  
The Fund is exposed to the risk that interest rate movements may materially impact the value of 
the benefits liability. The financial impact of changing interest rates on the benefits liability is 
expected to be offset in the longer term by similar changes in claims inflation. 
  
The discount rate being applied to future claims payments in determining the valuation of the 
benefits liability is disclosed in part (g) of this note. 
  
The exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average interest rate for classes of 
financial assets is set out in note 5. 
  
((ff))    LLiiqquuiiddiittyy  rriisskk  
  
The Fund’s exposure to liquidity risk is set out in note 5.  
 
The following table estimates the expected amounts and timing of future benefit payments for 
the provision of outstanding claims. The expected timing of payments from the provision for 
outstanding claims involves considerable uncertainty. The projections presented below do not 
include a provision for future administration expenses or latent occupational diseases. 
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Expected timing of future payments for outstanding claims: 

 
((gg))    AAccttuuaarriiaall  aassssuummppttiioonnss  aanndd  mmeetthhooddss  
  
The key actuarial assumptions used to value the benefits liability are as follows:  
 

  
 

(1) Net of discount rate attributable to inflation of 4.75% (2018 – 4.75%). 

(2) Net of discount rate attributable to inflation of 2.25% (2018 – 2.25%). 

(3) The same discount rates are attributable to the applicable components of the occupational disease provision. 

(4) The nominal discount rate is 5.50% (2018 – 5.60%). 

 
The benefits liability was determined using accepted actuarial practice in accordance with 
standards established by the Canadian Institute of Actuaries. The actuarial present value of future 
benefits reflects management’s and the actuary’s best estimates of long-term economic and 
actuarial assumptions.  
 
The overall valuation approach is designed to reflect emerging trends without placing too much 
emphasis on temporary fluctuations. The factors used in the valuation have been developed on a 
best estimate basis, without margins for adverse deviations, by taking the Board’s historical 
experience into consideration along with recent trends in that experience. The general philosophy 
is to avoid reacting too strongly to temporary fluctuations until there is sufficient evidence that a 
change in assumption is required. By waiting until a clear trend has emerged, this reduces the 
likelihood of larger liability adjustments than warranted, both positive and negative, and unstable 
financial results. 
 
The degree to which the valuation reflects trends is partly impacted by formulas intended to place 
the appropriate amount of weight on observed experience for each recent year and partly 
impacted by professional judgment based on observation of payment and claiming trends, 
including discussions with the Board’s staff about the underlying factors that might be causing an 
observed trend. 
 
The Medical Aid liability represents the present value of expected future benefit payments for 
medical services in respect of all claims arising from injuries that occurred on or before December 

2019 2018

Up to 1 year 5% 5%
Over 1 year and up to 5 years 15% 15%
Over 5 years and up to 10 years 19% 19%
Over 10 years 61% 61%
Total 100% 100%

31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
Discount rate for medical aid benefits - net (1,3,4) 0.70% 0.80%

Discount rate for compensation benefits - net (2,3,4) 3.15% 3.25%
Discount rate for survivor and other pension benefits - net (2,4) 3.15% 3.25%
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31, 2019. Medical services include hospital and physician services, prescription drugs, travel 
expenses, and other eligible medical services under the Act.  
 
The Short Term Compensation liability represents the present value of expected future short-term 
loss of earnings payments in the first seven years of a claim for injuries that occurred on or before 
December 31, 2019. The Short Term Compensation liability is included in the Compensation 
liability category for financial reporting purposes.  
 
The Medical Aid and Short Term Compensation liabilities are calculated using the loss 
development method also known as the “claims run-off” approach. In this method, historical paid 
claims data are summarized by injury year and payment year in order to observe the relationships 
between payments at different durations for each injury year. Historical factors, at each duration, 
are developed from prior injury years and are applied to injury years that are not yet fully mature 
in order to estimate the future timing and amount of remaining benefit payments. A provision 
with respect to the ten percent annuity contribution required on loss of earnings benefits paid 
beyond 24 months is included in the Short Term Compensation liability.      
 
The Long Term Compensation liability represents the present value of expected future long-term 
loss of earnings payments for injury years 2013 and prior, including future inflationary 
adjustments, for individuals still in receipt of a long-term loss of earnings award at December 31, 
2019. The Long Term Compensation liability is calculated on a seriatim, or individual basis using 
the discounted cash flow method. Loss of earnings benefits are indexed annually in the month 
following the anniversary of the date of when the injured worker’s loss of earnings began. 
Mortality rates are used to determine the future life expectancy of individuals in receipt of a long-
term loss of earnings award. A provision with respect to the ten percent annuity contribution 
required on loss of earnings benefits paid beyond 24 months is included in the Long Term 
Compensation liability. The Long Term Compensation is included in the Compensation liability for 
financial reporting purposes.    
 
The Pension liability represents the present value of expected future pension payments, including 
future inflationary adjustments, to individuals who have been approved for a pension or survivor 
award at December 31, 2019. The Pension liability is calculated on a seriatim basis using the 
discounted cash flow method. Pension benefits are indexed annually on January 1st of each year. 
Mortality rates are used to determine the future life expectancy of individuals in receipt of a 
pension award.  
 
The Future Long Term Compensation liability represents the present value of future long-term 
loss of earnings awards that have not yet reached long-term status as of December 31, 2019. 
These future awards are in respect of all claims arising from injuries which occurred on or before 
December 31, 2019. The estimated number and timing of these future awards has been 
developed based on the historical emergence of claims. In addition, the expected cost of each 
claim has been developed based on actual long-term awards approved prior to December 31, 
2019. A provision with respect to the ten percent annuity contribution required on future loss of 
earnings benefits paid beyond 24 months following injury is included in the Future Long Term 
Compensation liability. The Future Long Term Compensation liability is included in the 
Compensation liability category for financial reporting purposes.    
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The Occupational Disease provision represents a portion of the present value of the expected 
future cost of claims that have not yet been filed but are expected to manifest themselves in the 
future as a result of cumulative exposure to a causative agent in the workplace (i.e. long latency 
cases). Only a portion of the total provision is held based on the accumulated exposure up to the 
valuation date relative to total exposure before an occupational disease manifests itself. 
Occupational diseases differ from occupational injuries in that there can be a considerable time 
lag between the exposure, the manifestation of the disease and the identification of the ensuing 
disability as a workers’ compensation claim. Furthermore, while the circumstances of an injury 
usually make it clear whether it is  work related or not, the link between an occupational disease 
and the workplace may be difficult to establish.  
 
The discount rate is used to calculate the present value of expected future payments. 
 
The administration rate represents the present value of the expected future costs required to 
provide administrative services for the continuation of claims management and maintenance of 
existing claims. The administration rate applied at December 31, 2019 is 15% (15% for December 
31, 2018), and is applied to all liability components with the exception of the Annuity liability.  
 
As these assumptions may change over time to reflect underlying economic or legislated 
conditions, it is possible that such changes could cause a material change to the actuarial present 
value of future benefit payments.  
 
The significant changes in the benefits liability for experience gains or losses as at December 31 
were: 
 

 
 
  
((hh))    LLiiaabbiilliittyy  sseennssiittiivviittyy  
 
The most significant assumption in the determination of the benefits liability is the net discount 
rate. The net discount rate is the assumed rate of return in excess of the assumed inflation rate. A 
reduction in the net discount rate would increase the actuarial present value of the benefits 

2019 2018
($000s) ($000s)

Change in runoff factors (880)$              10$                  
Update of first year inflation (210)                 89                     
Other changes in actuarial assumptions 3,321              1,289              

2,231$           1,388$           
Favourable claims experience during year (3,275)             (4,241)             

(1,044)$          (2,853)$          
Actual versus expected claims paid on prior years' injuries 396                  773                  

(648)$              (2,080)$          

Increase (decrease) in 
benefits liability
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liability resulting in an increase in claims expense and benefits liability. An increase in the discount 
rate would decrease the actuarial present value, resulting in a decrease in claims expense and 
benefits liability. 
 
Medical benefits represent approximately 19% (2018 – 19%) of the benefits liability. A change in 
the assumed excess medical inflation rate (above the assumed inflation rate) and the net discount 
rate would result in a change in claims expense and the benefits liability as follows: 
  

  
 
  
  

Percentage change in assumed rates +1% -1% +1% -1%
Increase (decrease) in claims expense and benefits 
liability from change in net discount rate (13,269)$    14,874$     (12,522)$    14,785$     
Increase (decrease) in claims expense and benefits 
liability from change in excess medical inflation rate 3,512           (2,970)         3,491           (2,898)         

31-Dec-19
($000s)

31-Dec-18
($000s)
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((ii))    CCllaaiimmss  DDeevveellooppmmeenntt    
  
The following table shows the development of claims cost estimates for the nine most recent 
injury years: 
 

  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the investigations unit continued to monitor ongoing 
investigations. The outcome of the investigations is not determinable at this time and therefore, 
the potential future effect of these claims is not reflected in the benefits liability. 

Estimate of 
Ultimate 
Claim 
Payments

2010  
($000s)

2011 
($000s)

2012 
($000s)

2013 
($000s)

2014 
($000s)

2015 
($000s)

2016 
($000s)

2017 
($000s)

2018 
($000s)

2019 
($000s)

Total 
($000s)

At end of accident year 26,001    28,402    24,192    24,513    24,789    19,067    18,600    21,347     25,921     21,877     
One year later 23,288    26,111    25,187    20,973    25,327    19,126    25,298    21,507     26,159     

Two years later 23,006    25,087    22,366    20,821    25,644    20,206    25,960    21,396     
Three years later 21,645    21,837    22,418    20,327    25,866    17,997    25,536    
Four years later 17,971    20,488    22,386    20,675    29,726    17,221    
Five years later 16,857    20,024    23,706    18,187    30,928    
Six years later 14,205    21,596    20,158    16,250    

Seven years later 14,410    19,390    19,654    
Eight years later 14,491    19,214    
Nine years later 14,158    

Cumulative 
Payments

At end of accident year 3,182       3,721       4,433       3,438       3,757       3,801       3,879       4,129       4,094       3,821       
One year later 4,787       5,618       7,404       5,113       6,590       6,081       6,673       6,654       6,662       

Two years later 5,394       6,222       8,277       5,910       7,890       6,773       7,856       7,717       
Three years later 5,635       6,648       8,999       6,394       9,018       7,225       8,478       
Four years later 5,833       6,910       9,540       6,719       9,870       7,590       
Five years later 6,085       7,211       10,073    6,840       10,623    
Six years later 6,318       7,450       10,359    7,055       

Seven years later 6,462       7,721       10,685    
Eight years later 6,545       7,988       
Nive years later 6,654       

Estimate of 
Future 
Payments 7,504       11,226    8,969       9,195       20,305    9,631       17,058    13,679     19,497     18,056     135,120       

2009 and prior claims 104,481       

Effect of Discounting (112,363)     
Effect of Admin Expenses 16,851         Effect of 
Occupational 
Disease 16,570         

Balance Sheet Liability 160,659       
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1133..    EEmmppllooyyeeee  BBeenneeffiittss  
  

 
 
Short-term benefits included in the above amounts are expected to be paid within the next twelve 
months. 
 
((aa))    OOtthheerr  LLoonngg--tteerrmm  EEmmppllooyyeeee  BBeenneeffiittss  
 
Long service vacation leave is an additional five days of vacation leave available to employees who 
have completed five years of continuous service with the Board and on each five year anniversary 
date thereafter.  
 
Employees receive six days of special leave credits for each year of service up to a maximum of 30 
days. Unused special leave is not payable upon termination or retirement. 
 
Unused sick leave credits accumulate and are carried forward to a maximum of 180 days. A 
retiring employee may convert up to one third as pre-retirement leave.  
 
The balance in the liability accrual for accumulating sick and special leave benefits and long 
service vacation for the year was: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
($000s) ($000s)

Short-term employee benefits 583$                474$               
Other long-term employee benefits (a) 1,081               992                   
Post-employment benefits (b) 1,743               1,571               

3,407$           3,037$           

31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
($000s) ($000s)

Long service vacation benefits 50$                  66$                  
Accumulating sick and special leave benefits 1,031               926                   
Total 1,081$           992$               
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The movement in the accrual for other long-term benefits for the year was: 
  

  
 
 
Actuarial loss remeasurements: 

  
  
((bb))    PPoosstt--eemmppllooyymmeenntt  BBeenneeffiittss  
 
((ii))    RReettiirreemmeenntt  aanndd  SSeevveerraannccee  BBeenneeffiitt  
  
Retirement or severance benefits are available to employees who have completed five years of 
service with the Board. Retirement benefits are one week of pay for each year of service. 
Severance benefits are half a week of pay for each year of service to a maximum of twenty-eight 
weeks.  
 
Management employees have a graded retirement and severance benefits per service year 
arrangement with no maximum payout limit. From January 1, 2020, going forward, there will be 
no further accruals related to severance payable on resignation or retirement. Severance 
entitlements accrued up to December 31, 2019, will remain payable upon resignation or 
retirement.  

2019 2018
($000s) ($000s)

Benefits, beginning of the year 992$               883$               
Current service cost 76                     65                     
Payments made during the year (135)                 (92)                    
Interest cost 33                     26                     
Other changes 60                     72                     
Actuarial loss 55                     38                     
Benefits, end of the year 1,081$           992$               

2019 2018
($000s) ($000s)

Effect of changes in financial assumptions 33$                   36$                   
Effect of changes in demographic assumptions 22                     2                        
Remeasurements loss in profit or loss 55$                   38$                   
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The movement in the accrual for retirement and severance benefits for the year was: 
 

 
 
Actuarial (gain) loss remeasurements: 

 
 
The plan is not pre-funded and thus has no assets, resulting in a plan deficit equal to the accrued 
benefit obligation. The risk of default is low as the Fund is in a strong financial position.  
 
The key assumptions used to calculate the retirement and severance benefit are the discount rate 
and the wage inflation rate. The discount rate of 2.80% (2018 – 3.50%) is selected by reference to 
a spot curve at the valuation date of high-quality corporate and provincial debt instruments with 
cash flows that match the timing and amount of the expected benefit payments. The annual rate 
of general escalation in wages is 1.75% for 2020 and 2021, and 2.0% for 2022 and beyond based 
on negotiated wage increases (2018 – 2.2% in 2019 onwards) based on management’s best 
estimate.   
 
The expected Fund contributions for retirement and severance for the next year are $281,000 
(2019 – $251,000). The weighted average duration of the retirement and severance benefit is 6.5 
years (2018 – 6.7 years). 
 
((iiii))    RReettiirreemmeenntt  aanndd  SSeevveerraannccee  BBeenneeffiitt  RRiisskkss  aanndd  SSeennssiittiivviittyy  
  
The retirement and severance benefit is indirectly exposed to measurement risk from 
assumptions based on economic factors and uncertainty of future economic conditions, such as 
discount rates affected by volatile bond markets and inflation risk due to payment timing 
uncertainty. Demographic factors such as workforce average age and earnings levels, attrition and 

2019 2018
($000s) ($000s)

Benefits, beginning of the year 1,571$           1,407$           
Current service cost 105                   92                     
Payments made during the year (55)                    (121)                 
Interest cost 58                     45                     
Other changes 73                     86                     
Actuarial (gain) loss (9)                       62                     
Benefits, end of the year 1,743$           1,571$           

2019 2018
($000s) ($000s)

Effect of changes in financial assumptions 64$                   57$                   
Effect of changes in demographic assumptions (27)                    5                        
Effect of changes in the management benefits plan (46)                    -                    
Remeasurements (gain) loss in other comprehensive income (9)$                    62$                   
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retirement rates affect current and future benefit costs due to the amount and timing of expected 
payments. 
 
A change in the key assumptions used to calculate these benefits would result in a change in the 
obligation and benefit expense as follows: 
 

 
 
The above sensitivity analysis is based on a change in an assumption while keeping all other 
assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur and changes in some of the 
assumptions may be correlated. The same method of calculation has been applied to the 
sensitivity analysis as to the calculation of the retirement and severance benefit obligation, the 
projected unit credit method, and did not change compared to the prior year.  
 
((iiiiii))    PPuubblliicc  SSeerrvviiccee  PPeennssiioonn  PPllaann  
Substantially all of the employees of the Board are covered by the Public Service Pension Plan (the 
“Plan”), a contributory defined benefit plan established through legislation and sponsored by the 
Government of Canada. Contributions are required by both the employees and the Fund. The 
President of the Treasury Board of Canada sets the required employer contributions based on a 
multiple of the employees’ required contribution.  
 
The employer contribution rates effective for the year were as follows: 
 

 
The Government of Canada holds a statutory obligation for the payment of benefits relating to 
the Plan. Pension benefits generally accrue up to a maximum period of 35 years at an annual rate 
of two percent of pensionable service times the average of the best five consecutive years of 
earnings. The benefits are coordinated with Canada/Québec Pension Plan benefits and they are 
indexed to inflation. For employees joining the plan after January 1, 2013, the normal retirement 
age has been raised from age 60 to age 65. 
 

Percentage change in assumed rates +1% -1% +1% -1%
Discount rate (117)$           132$            (97)$              107$            
Wage Inflation rate 132$            (119)$           108$            (99)$              

31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
($000s) ($000s)

 

Contribution rate for the year Up to 
Maximum

Above 
Maximum

Up to 
Maximum

Above 
Maximum

For employees eligible before January 1, 2013 1.01              3.79              1.01              3.20              
For employees eligible after January 1, 2013 1.00              3.79              1.00              3.20              
Maximum salary limit 169,300$  No limit 164,700$  No limit

2019 2018
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Contributions made to the Public Service Pension Plan by the Fund and the employees for the 
year were as follows:  

  
 
The expected contributions to the Plan for the next year are $723,000 (2019 – $691,000) 
employee contributions and $741,000 (2019 – $704,000) Fund contributions.  
  
((cc))    BBeenneeffiitt  EExxppeennssee  
 
Benefit expense recognized in salaries and benefits within administration expenses in the 
Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income for other long-term employee benefits and 
post-employment benefits was $1,207,000 in 2019 (2018 - $1,145,000). 
 
1144..    CCaappiittaall  MMaannaaggeemmeenntt,,  SSuurrpplluuss  DDiissttrriibbuuttiioonnss  aanndd  RReesseerrvveess  
 
((aa))  CCaappiittaall  MMaannaaggeemmeenntt  
 
The Workers’ Compensation Act establishes that one of the purposes of the Act is to maintain a 
solvent Compensation Fund managed in the interest of workers and employers. To ensure that 
the Fund is able to meet its financial obligations, premiums charged to employers over time must 
be sufficient to cover current and future costs of all claims incurred by injured workers. These 
assessment revenues, combined with investment returns from the Fund’s assets, are designed to 
provide the foundation for the Fund to meet all current and future obligations for injured 
workers.  
 
The Board of Directors considers that capital is the net difference between assets and liabilities. 
There have been no changes in the objectives and definition of capital from the previous period. 
The Fund does not have any external capital requirements. The reserves are established to 
protect the fully funded position of the Fund and to stabilize the effect of fluctuations in the 
employer assessment rates and investment returns. At the end of the fiscal year, once the 
benefits liability is determined, the net difference between the Fund’s assets and liabilities is 
allocated to reserves. 
 
The Board of Directors uses the Funding Ratio (Assets/Liabilities) to manage capital. At December 
31, 2019, the Funding Ratio was 141% (2018 – 132%). Management’s funding target ratio is 
between 121% and 129%, which ensures that the Fund remains fully funded plus sustains the 
Adverse Events and Stabilization Reserves’ target funding levels. The Fund is considered fully 
funded when there are sufficient funds for the payment of all present and future compensation, 
and other liabilities, including the cost of administration.  
 
  
  

2019 2018
($000s) ($000s)

Employees’ contributions 741$                708$                
Fund contributions 747$                721$                
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((bb))  SSuurrpplluuss  DDiissttrriibbuuttiioonnss  
 
In 2019, no surplus distribution was issued. (2018 - $5,031,000) 
 
Reconciliation of funding policy surplus distributions: 
 

 
 
In 2019, an amount of $18,000 was recovered relating to the 2018 approved surplus distribution 
(In 2018 – $4,963,000 was paid out). Distributions paid are conditional upon employers being 
compliant with the Workers’ Compensation Act and Occupational Health and Safety Act. At 
December 31, 2019, nil (2018 - $68,000) in surplus distributions were withheld due to non-
compliance by employers. 
 
Reconciliation of surplus distributions payable: 
 

 
 
((cc))  RReesseerrvveess  
 
Under the current Funding Policy, two reserves are established as follows:  
 
 (i)  Stabilization Reserve 
 
The Stabilization Reserve is to protect the fully funded position of the Fund and to stabilize the 
effect of fluctuations on employer assessment rates. The target level for this reserve is equal to 
ten percent of the benefits liability. In 2019 the benefits liability was $160,659,000 (2018 – 
$155,499,000). The target was $16,066,000 as at December 31, 2019 (2018 – $15,550,000). The 
operating range for this reserve is determined as the target level balance plus or minus three and 

31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
($000s) ($000s)

Current year surplus distributions released -$                   4,963$         
Current year surplus distributions withheld -                      68                   

-                      5,031            
Prior year surplus distribution adjustments (18)                 (25)                 
Current year surplus distribution adjustment -                      (4)                    
Funding policy surplus distributions (recoveries) (18)$              5,002$         

31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
($000s) ($000s)

Surplus distributions payable, beginning of year 64$               215$             
Amounts paid for prior year surplus distributions (46)                 (190)               
Prior year surplus distribution adjustments (18)                 (25)                 
Current year surplus distributions withheld -                      68                   
Current year surplus distribution adjustment -                      (4)                    
Surplus distributions payable, end of year -$                   64$                
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a half percent of the benefits liability. At December 31, 2019, the Stabilization Reserve has a 
balance of $43,596,000 (2018 – $29,026,000). 
 
This reserve is considered to have a surplus when its balance exceeds the top of the operating 
range and a deficit if the reserve balance is below its target level. The funding policy requires that 
any deficiency or surplus at the end of a fiscal year be amortized over a period not exceeding ten 
years from the year in which the deficiency or surplus arose. 
 
A rebate in 2019 was included in the assessment rates as required by the Funding Policy based on 
the 2018 funded position. 
 
(ii)  Adverse Events Reserve 
 
The Adverse Events Reserve is to provide funding for infrequent, unexpected adverse claims 
experience and catastrophic events to protect employers from the sudden impact of the costs of 
these types of events. The target level for this reserve is $24,980,000 (2018 – $24,247,000), which 
has been set at 100 times the maximum wage rate plus ten percent of the benefits liability and is 
calculated annually upon completion of the actuarial valuation of the benefits liability. Costs 
related to catastrophic and adverse events and latent occupational diseases are charged to this 
reserve, resulting in a charge of nil for 2019 (2018 – nil). This reserve is limited to its target level. 
Funds in excess of the target level are transferred to the Stabilization Reserve, with nil funds 
transferred in 2019 (2018 – nil). At December 31, 2019, the Adverse Events Reserve has a balance 
of $24,980,000 (2018 – $24,247,000). 
 
Transfers cannot be made from this reserve to any other temporary fund or reserve if the transfer 
will reduce this reserve below its target level. 
 
 
1155..    RReellaatteedd  PPaarrttyy  TTrraannssaaccttiioonnss  
 
((aa)) GGoovveerrnnmmeenntt  ooff  YYuukkoonn  
 
The Board is a territorial entity with delegated powers on behalf of the Government of Yukon (the 
“Government”), and is related to all Government departments, agencies and Government 
corporations.  
 
During 2019, the Compensation Fund paid the Government $254,000 (2018 – $209,000) for 
computer, office supplies, payroll processing, recruitment, and vehicle services. The Fund also 
reimbursed the Government for payroll costs of $9,989,000 (2018 – $9,208,000).  
 
Reimbursements for claims costs received from the Government were $303,000 in 2019 (2018 – 
$327,000) (note 4(b)). 
 
The Board enters into transactions with the Government and entities related to the Government 
in the normal course of business and the transactions are recorded at fair value. 
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Revenues and recoveries from the Government for the year ended December 31, 2019 totalled 
$7,250,000 (2018 – $6,956,000), including the Mine Safety Program Grant (note 11).  
 
During 2019, the Board issued nil (2018 – $1,253,000) surplus distribution to the Government. 
 
Included in the Fund’s accounts receivable and accounts payable as of December 31, 2019 are 
amounts owing to and from the Government of Yukon as follows: 
 

 
 
The Workers' Advocate Office operates independently from the Board and assists workers or 
dependants of workers in respect of claims for compensation. The approved budget of the 
Workers’ Advocate shall be paid out of the compensation fund. In 2019, the Fund reimbursed the 
Government $409,000 (2018 – $496,000) for the Workers' Advocate Office expenses. 
 
((bb)) KKeeyy  MMaannaaggeemmeenntt  PPeerrssoonnnneell  
 
The remuneration of key management personnel, which includes the members of the Board of 
Directors and the senior management team, recognized as an expense during the period was: 
 

 
 
Contributions made to the Public Service Pension Plan by the Fund for key management 
personnel was $134,000 (2018 – $121,000) and are included in post employment benefits. 
 
As at reporting date, there were no business relationships, outstanding amounts or transactions 
other than compensation, between the Fund and its key management personnel. 
  

31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
($000s) ($000s)

Due to the Government of Yukon (1,274)$       (1,897)$       
Due from the Government of Yukon 698               389               
Net amount due (576)$           (1,508)$       

2019 2018
($000s) ($000s)

Short-term employee compensation and benefits 1,253$        1,226$        
Other long-term employee benefits 20                  15                  
Post employment benefits 186               182               
Total remuneration 1,459$        1,423$        
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1166..    CCoommmmiittmmeennttss  
 
As of December 31, 2019, the Fund had entered into the following contractual commitments for 
the next five years:  
 

  
  
  
1177..    AAddmmiinniissttrraattiioonn  EExxppeennsseess  
 

  

Contribution 
agreements

Computer 
systems 
support 

Professional 
services

Building 
maintenance Other Total

($000s) ($000s) ($000s) ($000s) ($000s) ($000s)

2020 741$                   45$                    613$                47$                     36$                  1,482$           
2021 581                      45                      333                   33                       6                       998                 
2022 593                      45                      -                         -                           -                        638                 
2023 -                            45                      -                         -                           -                        45                    
2024 -                            -                          -                         -                           -                        -                        

1,915$               180$                 946$                80$                     42$                  3,163$           

 2019 2018
($000s) ($000s)

Salaries and benefits 9,741$           9,090$           
Consulting and professional 1,890              1,131              
Amortization - intangible assets 704                  664                  
Statutory funding obligations 552                  631                  
Computer systems 543                  446                  
Depreciation - property and equipment 482                  483                  
Buildings 419                  397                  
General administration 429                  590                  
Communications 235                  220                  
Automobile and travel 222                  212                  
Staffing and recruitment 166                  148                  
Board expenses 82                     100                  
Printing and publications 71                     85                     
Supplies and stationery 46                     43                     
Furniture and equipment 17                     42                     
System development analysis expense 14                     103                  

15,613$         14,385$         
 Less: claims administration expense transferred to claims expenses              
(note 12) (2,243)             (2,294)             

13,370$         12,091$         
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1188..    CCoonnttiinnggeenncciieess  
 
Due to the nature of the Board’s operations, various legal matters are pending. In the opinion of 
management, these matters will not have a material effect on the Fund’s financial position or 
results of operations. 
 
1199..  SSuubbsseeqquueenntt  EEvveennttss  
 
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, there was a steep sell off in global markets in early 2020. The fair 
value of the Fund’s investment balance was significantly impacted. A decrease in the Fund’s 
investment balance has an adverse impact on the funding ratio. 
 
The Government of Yukon announced on March 16, 2020 its economic stimulus package that is 
designed to support local workers and businesses impacted by COVID-19. As part of the 
Government of Yukon’s stimulus package, the Board is offering two types of relief to businesses 
experiencing serious adverse financial impacts from COVID-19: 
 

1. The opportunity to revise 2020 annual payroll estimates. 
2. The opportunity to defer 2020 assessment premiums without penalty or interest charges to 

a date that is business appropriate. 
 
As of April 21, 2020, the duration and extent of the COVID-19 impact is uncertain. The Board is 
unable to estimate the impact that the virus and related stimulus efforts will have on its funded 
position going forward. 
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